Mitochondrial bioenergetics and disease in Caenorhabditis elegans

Beverley M. Dancy^{1,2} Margaret M. Sedensky^{1,2} Philip G. Morgan^{1,2}

¹Center for Developmental Therapeutics, Seattle Children's Research Institute, 1900 Ninth Ave, Seattle, WA, USA, ²Department of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, University of Washington, 1959 NE Pacific St, Seattle, WA, USA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. C. elegans models for investigating the mitochondrial respiratory chain
 - 3.1. Complex I: GAS-1, NUO-1, and NUO-6
 - 3.2. Complex II: MEV-1 and SDHB-1
 - 3.3. Coenzyme Q: CLK-1 and COQ-3
 - 3.4. Complex III: ISP-1 and CTB-1
 - 3.5. Complex IV
 - 3.6. Complex V: ATP-2
 - 3.7. Indirect modifiers of the mitochondrial respiratory chain: LRS-2, POLG-1, and SOD-2
- 4. Mitochondrial defects in development and lifespan
- 5. Conclusion
- 6. Acknowledgements
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Simple multicellular animal model systems are central to studying the complex mechanisms underlying a bewildering array of diseases involving dysfunctional mitochondria. Mutant nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded subunits of the Caenorhabditis elegans mitochondrial respiratory chain (MRC) have been investigated, including GAS-1, NUO-1, NUO-6, MEV-1, SDHB-1, CLK-1, ISP-1, CTB-1, and ATP-2. These, as well as proteins that modify the MRC indirectly, have been studied on the molecular, cellular, and organismal levels through the variety of experimental approaches that are readily achievable in C. elegans. In C. elegans, MRC dysfunction can mimic signs and symptoms observed in human patients with primary mitochondrial disorders, such as neuromuscular deficits, developmental delay, altered anesthetic sensitivity, and increased lactate levels. Antioxidant dietary supplements, coenzyme Q substitutes, and flavin cofactors have been explored as potential therapeutic strategies. Furthermore, mutants with altered longevity have proved useful for probing the contributions of bioenergetics, reactive oxygen species, and stress responses to the process of aging. C. elegans will undoubtedly continue to provide a useful system in which to explore

unanswered questions in mitochondrial biology and disease.

2. INTRODUCTION

A rich, multinational history of mitochondrial research began more than a century ago. Mitochondria were first described as ubiquitous "bioblasts" in histological sections of nucleated cells in 1890 (1), shown to be stained by the redox dye Janus Green B in 1899 (2), and visualized at high resolution using electron microscopy in 1952 (3). Following these morphological observations, the biochemistry of the mitochondrial respiratory chain (MRC) was elucidated and shown to be associated with the inner mitochondrial membrane (4,5,6). In addition to the respiratory chain, mitochondria were found to be the site of the citric acid and urea cycles, fatty acid oxidation, and the biosynthesis of amino acids, nucleotides, lipids, hemes, and ironsulfur clusters (7). Meanwhile, with the advent of molecular biology, nuclear and mitochondrial genes encoding proteins with mitochondrial functions were identified (8). Subsequent advances in understanding mitochondrial protein import, fission-fusion dynamics,

apoptosis, ion homeostasis, redox balance, and stress sensing by the mitochondrion, were due in a large part to research employing yeast model organisms (9). One topic of current investigation is the multifaceted interplay between mitochondrial metabolism and signaling pathways that control transcription and other regulatory networks (10,11,12,13,14).

In addition to uncovering fascinating biology, the study of mitochondria is motivated by its role in human diseases. It is well established that primary mitochondrial disorders are caused by defects within the organelle. Moreover, the mitochondrion plays a crucial role in a wide array of diseases including cancer, type 2 diabetes, Huntington's, Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis, and Freiderich's ataxia (15,16,17,18). The list of diseases with a possible connection to the mitochondrion is rapidly growing, and includes HIV, deafness, glaucoma, obesity, cardiovascular disease, stroke, autism, and autoimmune diseases such as multiple sclerosis and rheumatoid arthritis (19-28). Diminishing function of mitochondria is associated with the process of aging (29). Furthermore, mitochondrial targets are involved in the therapeutic and/or adverse effects of many pharmaceuticals and toxins, such as ethanol, cyanide, arsenic, antiviral nucleoside analogues, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, certain antibiotics, and anesthetics (30,31,32). The widespread involvement of this organelle in disease and pharmacology is due to its multitude of functions, unique risks associated with dual genetic control, its prokaryotic evolutionary origin, and its unique physicochemical characteristics (33). Thus, it has become increasingly clear in recent years that metabolism and other mitochondrial functions are important to a broad spectrum of medical research. and this is the focus of this special edition on mitochondrial bioenergetics in human health.

The worldwide prevalence of primary mitochondrial disorders is estimated at one in 5,000 (34). This group of genetic disorders usually presents in children who suffer from a heterogeneous collection of symptoms. These include neuromuscular deficit, developmental delay, and elevated lactate and pyruvate often detected in the serum. These primary mitochondrial disorders are caused by genetic mutations in either the mitochondrial genome (mtDNA) or the nuclear genome. The mtDNA encodes 13 subunits of the MRC, as well as 22 tRNAs and 2 rRNAs that translate these proteins. These are particularly vulnerable to mutation, with

about 10 to 20-fold mutation rate, because they lack protective histones, are in close proximity to reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation at the MRC, and the mtDNA repair processes are generally less efficient than those in the nucleus (35). Of infants diagnosed with mitochondrial disease, mtDNA mutations can account for approximately 17% (36). Moreover, at least 900 nuclear genes have been identified with mitochondrial functions, and over 100 have mutations associated with mitochondrial disorders (37,38). These disease genes include those that encode many subunits of the MRC as well as genes involved in fusion-fission dynamics. mtDNA abundance, mitochondrial nucleoside/ nucleotide pool, mitochondrial translation, protein import, and phospholipid synthesis (39). The disease ranges in severity from mild to fatal in infancy; in fact, mtDNA mutations are often associated with early spontaneous abortions and/or neonatal deaths, while 1 in 200 healthy humans carry a potentially pathological mtDNA mutation (40,41).

Mitochondrial disorders are sadly as of vet largely untreatable; they are also difficult to diagnose as symptoms vary greatly. It is not trivial to perform genetic tests to identify an underlying mutation, because the mitochondrion is under dual genetic control, and any of a number of mtDNA or nuclear disease genes can give rise to mitochondrial disease. Non-Mendelian inheritance affects the presentation of the disease, such that maternal effects can influence time of onset and mtDNA mutation heteroplasmy can influence tissue-specific pathology (42). The variable presentation and complexity of mitochondrial diseases in humans has supported a hope that animal model organisms will be useful in identifying novel therapeutic strategies in the treatment of mitochondrial disorders (43). The model organism approach is especially relevant for studying mitochondria because their functions and the MRC components are highly conserved from yeast to man (44). In this review, we focus on MRC defects investigated using the simple nematode, Caenorhabditis elegans, and how insights gained from this model organism have been applied to understanding the biology and potential treatment of mitochondrial disorders.

3. C. ELEGANS MODELS FOR INVESTIGATING THE MITOCHONDRIAL RESPIRATORY CHAIN

Since the metabolic demands of various tissues are different, multicellular organisms are

preferred for understanding tissue-specific regulation of mitochondrial functions and signaling between cell types (45). C. elegans is a nematode with a simple anatomy of 959 somatic cells in the adult hermaphrodite, with a mapped neural network, an epidermis, an intestine, distinct muscle groups, an excretory system, and gonads. In addition, unlike yeast or cultured cells, C. elegans display quantifiable behavioral phenotypes including locomotion. feeding and defecation, mating egg-laying, mechanosensation, attraction/ avoidance, and learning (46), as well as a measurable lifespan (47,48,49) and innate immunity to pathogens (50). A remarkable advantage of C. elegans for genetic research is the ease with which genes can be knocked down. Although this is fairly straightforward in other model organisms and cultured cells, RNAi is made especially facile in C. elegans because of the uptake of RNA via feeding (51). In fact, C. elegans readily take up diverse compounds during feeding, and are therefore a useful pharmacologic model for testing potential dietary supplements (52). Because C. elegans are transparent, fluorescence microscopy can be conducted on live animals throughout development, with dyes or genetically encoded reporters (53). As with any system in which bioenergetics is studied, biochemical analyses of purified mitochondria or MRC proteins are possible in *C. elegans*, and the reproducibility of this system has even led to its proposed use as a benchmark for clinical tests (54,55).

It should be noted that a number of differences have been documented between human mitochondria and *C. elegans* mitochondria. The mtDNA of C. elegans contains homologues of 36 of the 37 genes found in human mtDNA, lacking the ATP8 subunit of Complex V (56). Although the mtDNA of both animals is prone to mutation, these mutations seem to be generally better tolerated by C. elegans than humans (57,58). C. elegans also appear to have fewer copies of mtDNA per cell than humans (59). Unlike humans, C. elegans cannot accomplish de novo synthesis of hemes, including those found in several components of the MRC. but rather rely on dietary heme (60). Instead of coenzyme Q₁₀, which has a chain of 10 isoprenyl repeats, C. elegans, like rodents, primarily use coenzyme $\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{q}}$ (61). Whereas the glyoxylate cycle is not normally found in animals, C. elegans possess a malate synthase/isocitrate lyase termed ICL-1 or GEI-7, which cleaves isocitrate to form glyoxylate and succinate (62,63). Furthermore, mitochondria isolated from C. elegans can respire with malate

as the substrate, while malate on its own is a poor substrate for mammalian mitochondria (54,64). *C. elegans* mitochondria may be less sensitive to certain artificial uncouplers (64). Lastly, cadiolipin, a membrane phospholipid required in the inner mitochondrial membrane for proper MRC function in humans (65,66), appears to only be required in the *C. elegans* gonad and not in somatic cells (67).

However, despite these subtle differences, most biochemical properties of mitochondria purified from C. elegans appear to be similar to those purified from mammalian cells, including the TCA cycle, MRC activities, oxygen consumption profiles, supercomplex formation (54,64,68,69). The mtDNA of C. elegans (13.7. kb) is similar in size and structure to that of humans (16.6. kb) and both experience heteroplasmy, polyploidy, and maternal inheritance (56,70). Of the 91 human genes thought to encode MRC subunits, at least 72 have homologues identified in C. elegans (59). Many genes encoding mitochondrial proteins have been identified and characterized in C. elegans (see Figure 1), largely confirming substantial homology between the mitochondria of C. elegans and mammals (71). Furthermore, in many cases, the phenotypes observed in C. elegans mutants or knockdowns mirror those documented for genetic mitochondrial disorders in human patients, validating overall functional similarity between these systems. Of these, example strains bearing classical mutations are listed in Table 1, with genetic and/or biochemical evidence of loss-of-function indicated. Several additional MRC subunits have been studied using RNAi, although RNAi can act differently than classical mutations, and may depend upon the efficiency of knockdown in a given experiment (72,73). The C. elegans classical mutant strains can be viewed as disease models for mitochondrial disorders, and will be discussed in this context in further detail in this review.

3.1. Complex I: GAS-1, NUO-1, and NUO-6

Complex I, also known as NADH-CoQ oxidoreductase or NADH dehydrogenase, is a mega-Dalton complex of around 45 different proteins (74). It is an entry point of electrons into the MRC, with a flavin mononucleotide (FMN, also known as riboflavin-5'-phosphate) and an iron-sulphur cluster involved in electron transfer. It is the most commonly defective component of the MRC in patients with primary mitochondrial disorders. At least nineteen subunits of complex I, as well as several proteins involved in complex I assembly,



	Complex I			Complex II		Coenzyme Q		Complex III		Complex IV	ATP synthase
Example C. elegans genes	gas-1	nuo-1	nuo-6	mev-1	sdhb-1	clk-1	coq-3	isp-1	ctb-1	cco-1ª	atp-2
C. elegans phenotypes	Mit ^{b,c} Mev Gas Slu SLD FEC	Mit Mev ^d Gas ^a Slu Stp Dec SLD ^d FEC ^d	Mit Slu Dec SLD FEC	Mev Slu FEC	Mev ^d Stp FEC ^d	Mit Gas Slu Stp ^e Dec SLD FEC	Stp SLD FEC	Mit Dec SLD FEC	Stp	Mit⁰ Mev SLD FEC	Mit Slu Stp Dec
Human diseases	LS, MELAS, LHON			Paraganglioma, phaeochromo- cytoma		Encephalomyo- pathy, nephrosis, ataxia		Encephalo- hepatopathy, GRACILE, LS		LS, encephalopathy	Encephalo- cardiomyopathy, LS

Figure 1. *C. elegans* mitochondrial respiratory chain subunits of interest. Top, a drawing of the major components of the respiratory chain within the mitochondrial inner membrane. The intermembrane space is at the top, and the matrix is at the bottom. Electron transfer is represented by a dotted grey line. Proton translocation is represented by large vertical arrows. ATP generation is represented by a large horizontal arrow. The oxidation of NADH and succinate, and the reduction of oxygen, are represented by small curved arrows. Note that the complexes are stylistically drawn spaced apart and in equal stoichiometries for simplicity. Bottom, a table of commonly studied MRC components in *C. elegans*, phenotypes documented for loss-of-function classical mutation of these genes, and human diseases frequently associated with dysfunction at each step in the MRC. Mit: long-lived; Gas: hypersensitive to volatile anesthetics; Mev: hypersensitive to oxidants; Slu: slow locomotion; Stp: sterile progeny, including due to larval arrest of the parent; Dec: reduced defecation, usually also present with reduced pharynx pumping; SLD: slow larval development; FEC: low fecundity/brood size; LS: Leigh Syndrome; MELAS: mitochondrial myopathy, encephalomyopathy, lactic acidosis, and stroke-like episodes; LHON: Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy; GRACILE: growth retardation, aminoaciduria, cholestasis, iron overload, lactic acidosis, and early death; ^aPhenotypes observed for RNAi; ^bPhenotype observed at 15 degrees C; ^cPhenotype observed in the presence of 5-fluoro-2'-deoxyuridine (FUdR); ^dPhenotype observed in strains with point mutant transgenes; ^ePhenotype observed on diet lacking coenzyme Q.

have mutations associated with Leigh Syndrome, a devastating but incurable childhood mitochondrial disorder (75,76,77). Complex I dysfunction is also associated with lactic acidosis, encephalomyopathy, cardiomyopathy, and leukodystrophy/myoclonic epilepsy (78). *C. elegans* homologues have been identified for at least 38 of the 45 human genes encoding complex I subunits (59,79). To empirically determine if these genes contribute to complex I function, complex I-dependent respiration was measured in *C. elegans* with each of 28 subunits knocked down by RNAi, and 15 of these caused a statistically significant decrease (79).

The most characterized complex I subunit in *C. elegans* is GAS-1. *gas-1(fc21)* mutant animals have dramatically decreased complex I activity, as measured by oxygen consumption of isolated mitochondria provided with glutamate or malate as substrate, and also by spectrophotometric assays of rotenone-sensitive NADH-cytochrome-c reductase activity and rotenone-sensitive

NADH-decylubiquinone reductase activity, measured by a spectrophotometric assay. The GAS-1 homologues are known as the human NDUFS2 and the bovine 49kDa subunit (54). Mutations in NDUFS2 have been identified in nine separate families with Leigh Syndrome, Leigh-like Syndrome, cardiomyopathy, and encephalomyopathy; 8 of the 12 patients described died before age 4 (80,81,82,83). Intriguingly, our laboratory first identified gas-1 in a screen for mutants with abnormal responses to volatile anesthetics. C. elegans with loss-of-function in gas-1 are profoundly hypersensitive to volatile anesthetics, such as halothane, enflurane, and isoflurane, and the gene therefore takes its name from general anesthetic sensitive (84). RNAi-based knockdown of gas-1 also resulted in halothane hypersensitivity, and was dose-dependent with respect to RNAi induction, further confirming the link between gas-1 function and volatile anesthetic sensitivity (85). The effect on anesthetic sensitivity requires both neuronal and muscular expression of gas-1 and evidence that this might be linked to a pre-synaptic

Table 1. Loss-of-function mutations in C. elegans models of mitochondrial disease

Gene	Mutant	Sequence alteration	MRC activity	Reference
gas-1	fc21	Single substitution, Arg to Lys	Three-fold lower CI-dependent respiration	(84,96)
nuo-1	ua1	1.2kb deletion, with transgenic NUO-1 bearing A352V, T434M, or A443F	50% decreased respiration, 50-75% decreased CI-dependent respiration, 50-70% decreased CI activity	(110,111)
nuo-6	qm200	Single substitution, Gly to Glu	10-fold decreased CI activity and 40% decreased respiration	(72)
mev-1	kn1	Single substitution, Gly to Glu	10-fold decreased CII in isolated membranes; but unchanged ATP	(118,120)
sdhb-1	gk165	2.2kb deletion, with transgenic SDHB-1 bearing P211H, P211L, P211F, P211R	At least 50% decreased CII reductase activity	(125)
clk-1 qm30		590-bp deletion	No CoQ ₉	(96,129,134)
	qm51	No splicing of intron 2 and an early stop codon	No CoQ ₉	
	e2519	Missense leading to partial LOF	No CoQ ₉ ; three-fold lower CI-dependent respiration]
isp-1	qm150	Single substitution, Pro to Ser	2-fold lower respiration, 6-fold lower CIII activity	(152,210)
ctb-1	qm189	Single substitution, Ala to Val	2-fold lower CIII activity]
coq-3	qm188	2.5kb deletion	NF	(133)
atp-2	ua2	710-bp deletion	NF	(110)
Irs-1	mg312	Early stop codon at residue 247	NF	(160)
polg-1	ok1548	2149 bp deletion	NF	(170)
sod-2	gk257	161-bp deletion	Decreased CI-dependent respiration and CI redox activity	(94,178)
	ok1030	900-bp deletion	20% decreased respiration	1

CI, CII, CIV: complex I, II, III, and IV activities determined biochemically; LOF: loss-of-function; MRC: mitochondrial respiratory chain; mt: mitochondrial; NF: no published reports of MRC activity found; OCR: oxygen consumption rate

effect in motor neurons comes from an aldicarb/ levamisole assay (54). Furthermore, for the majority of complex I subunits, RNAi-based knockdown results in halothane hypersensitivity, indicating a general link between complex I dysfunction and volatile anesthetic hypersensitivity (79). This is further confirmed by an increase in complex I activity, through mutation of the insulin receptor daf-2, which results in halothane resistance (85). The link between complex I dysfunction and volatile anesthetic hypersensitivity is also observed in mice and humans (86,87). This discovery, which began with C. elegans, has influenced the clinical recommendations for dosing of volatile anesthetics to patients with mitochondrial disorders (88). This serves as an instructive example of bench-to-bedside research in C. elegans. Furthermore, these results paved the way for recent research using C. elegans to understand potential neurotoxic side-effects of volatile anesthetics, which is potentially a risk in surgeries on very young children (89,90,91).

These findings also add insight into the elusive question of how these chemicals induce animal anesthesia (92). Direct measurement of complex I enzyme kinetics of isolated C. elegans mitochondria was dose-dependent with respect to isoflurane concentration, with an IC₅₀ comparable to the ED_{50} for animal anesthesia. As expected, complex I with the gas-1(fc21) mutation was not inhibited by isoflurane in vitro, nor were wild-type complexes II, III, or IV. This is consistent with the hypothesis that complex I may be a direct target for this anesthetic. The $V_{\rm max}$ of rotenone-sensitive NADH-decylubiquinone reductase activity decreased to 65% in the presence of 5.7.% isoflurane, while the $\boldsymbol{K}_{\!\!\!\!\!m}$ with respect to decylubiquinone remained unchanged. The Hill coefficient of around 2, which indicates cooperativity of CoQ binding, was not significantly changed by isoflurane. No change to I:III:IV supercomplex stability was observed by 2-dimensional native gel electrophoresis in the presence and absence of isoflurane. These data ruled out competitive binding at the CoQ site or disruption of CoQ channeling as potential mechanisms of inhibition (93). Further investigation is needed to reveal the mechanism by which volatile anesthetics reduce complex I activity.

Other phenotypes of the gas-1(fc21) animal include slow development, reduced locomotion, and reduced fecundity (94). Similar to human patients with complex I dysfunction, gas-1(fc21) animals are short-lived. The lifespan phenotype is less pronounced at cold temperatures, and exacerbated at high temperatures, indicating a potential temperature-dependence in this point mutant (95). gas-1(fc21) has an increase in mitochondrial mass, as a possible compensatory mechanism (71). They also have a decrease in NADH-ferricyanide reductase activity, possibly through an allosteric effect within complex I (54). gas-1(fc21) also has an increase in complex II-dependent respiration, as measured by oxygen consumption of isolated mitochondria provided with succinate as substrate (96). In fact, increased complex II-dependent respiration is a general characteristic when any one of a number of complex I subunits are knocked down (79). These phenotypes mirror those of human patients with mitochondrial disease who have elevated complex II-dependent respiration (97) and "ragged red fibers" made up of overproduced mitochondria (98).

In addition to reduced NADH oxidation and reduced proton pumping, loss-of-function in complex I can alter the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as superoxide anion (O_2^{\bullet}) , hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), and hydroxyl radicals (•OH). The MRC, and in particular complexes I, II, and III, is known to be major endogenous source of ROS, in addition to at least 6 or 7 dehydrogenase enzymes in the mitochondrial matrix (99). ROS and the damage it causes to the cell correlate with a variety of pathologies and aging (100). Furthermore, elevated ROS generation by and oxidative damage to complex I correlates with ischemia reperfusion injury (101), and cells derived from patients with loss-of-function in complex I often have increased superoxide and hydroxyl radical levels as well as increased lipid peroxidation, presumably due to inefficient electron transfer by the MRC (102,103). Increased ROS may have a downward spiral effect by damaging MRC components and signaling to reduce complex I levels (104). gas-1(fc21) animals have an increase in oxidative damage to proteins (96). gas-1(fc21) animals are hypersensitive to the oxidizing agent, paraquat, and hypersensitive to hyperoxia (95).

Similarly, when complex I is inhibited by rotenone, wild-type animals become hypersensitive to hyperoxia (105). In fibroblasts cultured from a patient with mutant NDUFS2, a vitamin E derivative reduced ROS to wild-type levels and riboflavin rescued ATP production (104,106). These results suggest that treatment with supplements containing antioxidants such as vitamin E may be beneficial in patients with complex I dysfunction causing elevated ROS.

Presumably in response to this oxidative burden, gas-1(fc21) animals upregulate the expression of genes that function in detoxification of ROS and oxidative damage, such as superoxide dismutase sod-3, and possibly because of this, their superoxide anion levels are similar to wildtype (94,95). The induction of SODs in gas-1(fc21) mirrors a SOD induction observed in some patients with complex I deficiency, which correlates with decreased ROS (107). SOD induction can improve the phenotypes of complex I deficiency, as evidenced by reduced neurodegeneration in a mouse model with virally delivered SOD (108). In addition to ROS scavenging, SOD-2 functions to stabilize the I:III:IV supercomplex through a direct protein-protein interaction. Thus cells may attempt to compensate defective complex I function by increasing supercomplex stability, through upregulating SOD-2 levels. However, disruption to sod-2 can be lifeextending in gas-1(fc21) (94,109).

Another subunit of complex I that has been studied in some detail in *C. elegans* is NUO-1, the flavoprotein NDUFV1 subunit, named with reference to NADH-ubiquinone oxidoreductase. The loss-of-function *nuo-1(ua1)* mutation appears more detrimental than *gas-1(fc21)* as it causes developmental arrest at the third larval stage, in homozygous mutant animals with a heterozygous mother. Interestingly, these arrested animals are long-lived and have neuromuscular defects of decreased pharynx pumping and defecation and impaired locomotion (110). Like *gas-1(fc21)* and *gas-1* RNAi, *nuo-1* RNAi results in halothane hypersensitivity (79).

In order to generate strains that could be propagated, transgenic *nuo-1(ua1)* animals were created that express *nuo-1* bearing point mutations A352V, T434M, or A443F. These mutations are designed to mimic those in humans with mitochondrial disease, and the transgenic *C. elegans* all still have decreased respiration and complex I activity, as well as decreased complex IV

activity, suggesting a crosstalk between complex I and IV, possibly through interactions within the I:III:IV supercomplex (111,112). They all display low brood size, decreased lifespan, increased lactate and lactate:pyruvate ratio, and hypersensitivity to hyperoxia and paraguat, and the A352V mutant has slow development (111). A similar acidosis is seen in RNAi of nuo-1, and is reminiscent of acidosis observed in some patients with mitochondrial disorders (113), and could be partially rescued in the A443F mutant by the activator of pyruvate dehydrogenase, sodium dichloroacetate (111). Interestingly, allowing the animals to efficiently undergo lactate-dependent respiration, by transgenic expression of the yeast L-lactate-cytochrome c oxidoreductase, rescues ATP levels, respiration rates, fecundity, and lifespan of the A352V and T434M point mutants (114). Since the NDUFV1 subunit is predicted to interact with the cofactor flavin mononucleotide, riboflavin supplementation was examined in the nuo-1 point mutants. Riboflavin rescues complex I stability and partially rescues complex I activity, complex IV activity, lactate and lactate:pyruvate, and brood size (111,112). These data from C. elegans suggest that dietary riboflavin may be of use to patients with NDUFV1 defects, and possibly also those with defects in the other flavoproteins, NDUFV2 and NDUFV3.

The third complex I subunit studied in C. elegans via classical mutation is NUO-6, the NDUFB4 subunit. As expected, nuo-6(gm200) has decreased respiration and electron transport rates, although an increase in ATP concentrations is also observed. Similar to gas-1(fc21) and nuo-1(ua1), nuo-6(qm200) has slow embryonic and postembryonic development, reduced fecundity, neuromuscular defects such as slow locomotion, pharynx pumping, and defecation (72). nuo-6(qm200) is long-lived, without the developmental arrest seen in *nuo-1(ua1)*, suggesting that complex I dysfunction can lead to lifespan extension in C. elegans. Consistent with this, RNAi against nuo-6 or nuo-2, the NDUFS3 subunit in C. elegans, both of which decreased ATP levels, also extends lifespan (72,115). As with gas-1(fc21), nuo-6(qm200) have induced SODs, but the nuo-6(qm200) animals are resistant to paraguat (72), suggesting an improved stress tolerance in these long-lived animals. Interestingly, nuo-6(qm200) appear to have increased superoxide but unchanged overall ROS levels (94,116) and manipulation of the superoxide levels using antioxidants (vitamin C or N-acetyl-Lcysteine) or an oxidant (paraquat) also influenced

lifespan (116). Although RNAi against *nuo-6* does effectively knock down *nuo-6* mRNA and impair complex I activity, it does not change halothane sensitivity. This is consistent with the observation that subunits of the lambda subcomplex, such as GAS-1 and NUO-1, are more directly involved in the anesthetic response than subunits of the rest of complex I, such as NUO-6 (79).

3.2. Complex II: MEV-1 and SDHB-1

Complex Ш is the succinate-CoQ known oxidoreductase. also dehydrogenase. It is also an entry point of electrons into the MRC. It has several unique features: it is the only MRC complex encoded entirely in the nuclear genome, is the only MRC complex that does not translocate protons across the membrane, and is small, being composed of four subunits, named a, b, c, and d. A flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) and an iron-sulphur cluster are involved in electron transfer. Of the genes associated with primary mitochondrial disorders, complex II was the first direct hit in a nuclear gene encoding a MRC subunit in humans (117). Mitochondrial disorders have now been linked to mutations found in all four of the complex II subunit genes, and include Leigh Syndrome, phaeochromocytoma, cervical paraganglioma, and familial paraganglioma (78). C. elegans possess homologues of all four of the complex II subunits: subunit a is encoded by sdha-1 and sdha-2 (and possibly F48E8.3.), subunit b by sdhb-1, subunit c by sdhc-1/mev-1, and subunit d by sdhd-1.

MEV-1 is the succinate dehydrogenase subunit c, or cytochrome b large subunit. It takes its name from a screen that identified the mutant, mev-1(kn1), based on hypersensitivity to methyl viologen, also known as paraquat, a pro-oxidant (118,119). In addition to paraquat, these animals are also hypersensitive to increased oxygen concentration, much like animals treated with the complex II inhibitor, thenoyltrifluoroacetone (TTFA). It is possible that these hypersensitivities are due in part to a decrease in SOD activity that is detected in the mutant. mev-1(kn1) animals have measurably increased levels of superoxide anion (O2 -) production, especially under hyperoxia, decreased levels of reduced glutathione, increased protein oxidation, increased DNA mutation rate, and increased expression of sod-3. mev-1(kn1) animals have decreased fecundity and shortened lifespan, the latter of which could be rescued by treatment with a SOD/catalase-mimetic compound under certain conditions (94,95,105,118,119,120,121,122). This suggests that similar SOD/catalase-mimetic compounds could be developed for use in human patients with complex II-deficiency, and possibly complex I-deficiency as well.

The paraquat and hyperoxia sensitivity, ROS increase, decreased fecundity, and short lifespan phenotypes of mev-1(kn1) are reminiscent of gas-1(fc1). It should be noted that it was confirmed that complex II -dependent respiration (with succinate as substrate) is reduced in mev-1(kn1) while complex I-dependent respiration (with glutamate or malate as substrate) remains unchanged (96). This suggests that disrupting either entry point of electrons to the MRC can have similar effects, and it should be noted that disrupting both simultaneously, in a mev-1(kn1);gas-1(fc21) double mutant, is lethal (96). In addition to reduced respiration, mev-1(kn1) animals exhibit a two-fold increase in lactate and lactate/pyruvate ratio, which mirrors the lactic acidosis seen in patients with mitochondrial disorders. However, mev-1(kn1) does not result in anesthetic hypersensitivity, including to halothane and isoflurane, implying that the mechanism of action of these volatile anesthetics is not due to a general MRC defect or increase in ROS (95,118,120).

Another complex II subunit that has been investigated in C. elegans is SDHB-1, which is homologous to the B subunit of succinate dehydrogenase. This protein has an iron-sulphur center that mediates ubiquinone reduction and is mutated in human patients with paraganglioma and pheochromocytoma (123,124). Several point mutants were designed by the Lemire group to mimic known mutations associated with paraganglioma and pheochromocytoma: human residues P197 and H132 correspond to C. elegans P211 and H146 in SDHB-1 (125). Some are likely inviable (H146P, P211Q, and P211N), while others are able to rescue the lethal sdhb-1(gk165) deletion. The viable point mutants (P211R, P211H, P211L, P211F) all have reduced succinate-dependent reductase activities, as measured by spectrophotometric assays, and two of the four (P211F and P211H) have reduced liveanimal polarographic oxygen consumption rates. All four are short-lived and lay dead embryos; all of their lifespans are extended by treatment with ascorbate. They are also all hypersensitive to paraquat. Furthermore, three of the four are hypersensitive to hyperoxia, and this is rescued by ascorbate treatment and N-acetyl-L-cysteine. Furthermore, succinate-dependent generation of superoxide was

increased in mitochondria of three mutant strains (P211R, P211L, P211F), as measured by oxidation of a dihydroethidium dye. These studies support the hypothesis that reduced activity of complex II can result in increased ROS generation, and that this is associated with short lifespan, much like *mev-1(kn1)*. Furthermore, these data shed light on human patients with P197 mutations, where an increase in ROS may underlie tumorigenesis, and treatment with antioxidants may be beneficial.

When Ishii and colleagues knocked down individual complex II subunits, they found that embryonic lethality resulted from three of the four (subunits b, c, and d) result, and the fourth (subunit a) results in a decrease in survival of mev-1(kn1) (126). Kuang and Ebert were able to grow all four knockdowns, and they observed that three of the four (subunits b, c, and d) result in decreased number of eggs laid and increased sensitivity to the uncoupler FCCP, while all four have decreased liveanimal oxygen consumption rates and decreased steady-state ATP levels (127). Intriguingly, knocking down subunits b and d increased the expression of ICL-1 (in the glyoxylate cycle) and ACS-2 (in fatty acid beta-oxidation), potentially as compensatory mechanisms for the complex II defect. In summary, unlike any of the other MRC complexes, no complex II subunit loss-of-function mutation or RNAi has been observed to lengthen lifespan; disrupting complex II is almost always life-shortening.

3.3. Coenzyme Q: CLK-1 and COQ-3

Coenzyme Q (CoQ), also known as ubiquinone (oxidized) or ubiquinol (reduced), is a small-molecule isoprenoid that acts as carrier of electrons from complex I or II to complex III. It can also accept electrons derived from fatty acids or branched-chain amino acids. Defects in the biosynthesis of CoQ can cause severe MRC blockade. Human CoQ₁₀ deficiency can present in infants as encephalomyopathies, nephrosis, ataxic syndromes, and isolated myopathy (128). In C. elegans, CoQ_a synthesis requires the clk-1 gene and, by homology prediction, the coq-3 gene. clk-1 was named because its loss of function results in a biological clock abnormal phenotype (129,130). Great interest in clk-1 was sparked when it was observed to extend lifespan (129,130). When the gene was cloned, it was surprising to find that a loss in something as essential as CoQ would extend life.

clk-1 animals have slow embryonic and postembryonic development, reduced fecundity, and

have neuromuscular defects of decreased pharynx pumping, defecation, and locomotion (130), which are rescued when animals are supplemented with a soluble form of CoQ_{10} (131). Interestingly, these slow phenotypes were also present in wild-type animals fed a metal chelator, which may be due to chelating iron required by CLK-1 (132). Similarly, coq-3(qm188) animals with heterozygous mothers are slow to develop and have lower fecundity, while those with homozygous mutant mothers have developmental arrest in the first larval stage and die thereafter (133). As would be expected, clk-1(gm30), clk-1(gm51), and clk-1(e2519) mutants lack detectable CoQ_o and accumulate the precursor demethoxy-Q_o (DMQ_o) and the related rhodoquinone (RQ_o) (134). As possible compensatory mechanisms, clk-1(qm30) has increased mtDNA levels and induces ICL-1 of the glyoxylate pathway (135,136). In fact, the transcriptional profile of clk-1(qm30) is strikingly different than wild type, and reversing these transcriptional changes through RNAi of the regulator, fstr-1/2, partially rescues the slow development, locomotion, pharynx pumping, and lifespan effects without altering CoQ_q or DMQ_q levels (136). clk-1(e2519) and clk-1(qm30) have a dramatically decreased complex I-dependent respiration (85,96). This is expected, since CoQ is required for complex I to transfer electrons to complex III. Interestingly, clk-1(e2519) and clk-1(gm30) are hypersensitive to halothane, much like gas-1(fc21), possibly due to this decrease in complex I activity (96).

However, the true mechanism behind the phenotypes in *clk-1* is complex for several reasons. More than one pathway can be inhibited in clk-1 mutants, as CLK-1 has another function in binding mtDNA, which may regulate its replication and/ or transcription (137), and CoQ has antioxidant functions outside of the MRC, and possibly outside of the mitochondrion (138). Consistent with this, overexpression of clk-1 in wild-type animals causes shortening of lifespan, which cannot be ascribed solely to a possible increase in CoQ in the MRC (139). Furthermore, the DMQ_a and RQ_a that accumulate in place of CoQ could potentially act as a substitute for CoQ in some cases, or have other unique effects on the cell, as could the flux through the glyoxylate pathway (61,134,135,140,141). Another confounding aspect of studying CoQ deficiency in C. elegans is that they take up CoQ₈ from their bacterial food, especially during larval stages (140).

It is not surprising, in retrospect, that the true phenotype of clk-1 was unmasked when the

mutant *C. elegans* were fed bacteria that lack CoQ₈: these animals arrested at the second larval stage, much like *nuo-1(ua1)* (61), while wild-type animals fed this bacterial strain are slightly longer-lived (142). It should be noted that this bacterial strain may have changes to other metabolite levels in response to its own respiration defects, and thus when *C. elegans* feed upon it, more than the CoQ may be changed in the diet. Interestingly, *coq-3(qm188)* animals display the same phenotype regardless of dietary CoQ (133). Since COQ-3 is upstream in the CoQ biosynthesis pathway, it is possible that *coq-3(qm188)* accumulate a different set of precursors, accounting for the differences in diet-dependent phenotype versus *clk-1*.

Counter-intuitively, clk-1(e2519) has no change to complex II-dependent respiration (96). This surprising difference between complex I and complex II in their response to clk-1 mutation is also present when the bacterial food are engineered to produce CoQ with chain lengths of 6, 7, 8, 9, or 10 (143). One possible interpretation is that dietary CoQ cannot be accessed by complex I, and is preferentially utilized by complex II. Assuming this is true, it is still not clear how endogenous CoQ can be utilized by complex I when dietary CoQ cannot, but it may be related to extremely large size of the I:III:IV supercomplex or the nature of CoQ channeling. Perhaps the supercomplex sequesters a separate CoQ pool that somehow is obligated to be endogenously made, perhaps through direct deposition by the CoQ synthesizing machinery. Another explanation is that the DMQ_o precursor, which accumulates in the clk-1 mutant, can substitute for CoQ in complex II but not in complex I-dependent respiration. This would imply that the change in chemical structure between DMQ_a and CoQ_a can be uniquely discriminated by complex I and/or supercomplex I:III:IV, possibly because a greater number of contacts are made between the coenzyme and this large multi-subunit complex. To distinguish between these hypotheses, clk-1 mutants could be grown on food lacking CoQ₈, which should decrease complex II-dependent respiration if the first hypothesis is true. Another way to discriminate between these hypotheses is by examining cog-3, which should have decreased complex II-dependent respiration if the second hypothesis is true. It may also be interesting to determine whether wild-type animals on a diet lacking CoQ₈ have unaffected complex I-dependent respiration (since endogenous CoQ is present) but decreased complex II-dependent respiration

(since dietary CoQ_8 is lacking, and no DMQ_9 is accumulated). A further surprise is that although complex I-dependent respiration, but not complex II-dependent respiration, is defective in both gas-1(fc21) and clk-1(e2519), the double mutant is sterile, with an extended lifespan (96).

From experiments exploring the effects of different CoQ repeat lengths on respiration and ROS, it is interesting to note that the lifespan is more closely related to the ROS-induced damage than to the respiration levels (143). This further emphasizes the role of ROS-induced damage in determining the lifespan of MRC mutants. In contrast to gas-1(fc1) and mev-1(kn1), clk-1 mutants have decreased levels of oxidative damage to proteins, are resistant to UV-induced stress, and are resistant to the anti-mitotic hemiasterlin (96,144,145), although submitochondrial particles from clk-1(gm30) have higher levels of hydrogen peroxide generation than wild-type (143). One potential explanation for this difference in oxidative stress and stress tolerance between gas-1 or mev-1, and clk-1 could be because of the nature of the disruption to the MRC: perhaps loss of CoQ results in lower MRC activity without decreased efficiency (96). An alternate explanation is that they accumulate DMQo, which can serve as an antioxidant to counteract ROS production and protect against stress-induced damage. Since several pieces of evidence from the clk-1 mutant model imply a potential benefit of DMQ_o, this may be a beneficial supplement in patients with CoQ deficiencies.

3.4. Complex III: ISP-1 and CTB-1

Complex III is the CoQ-cytochrome c oxidoreductase, also known as the cytochrome bc, complex. Within complex III, the iron-sulphur cluster of the Rieske protein, the two hemes of cytochrome b, and the heme of cytochrome c, are involved in electron transfer during the Q cycle. Mutations in complex III subunits can cause hepatopathy, septo-optic dysplasia, and multisystem disorder (146,147,148), and defects in complex III assembly are associated with several diseases. One of these is a devastating infantile syndrome GRACILE, named for the symptoms of growth retardation, aminoaciduria, cholestasis, iron overload, lactic acidosis, and early death (149). Other diseases of complex III assembly include less severe infantile encephalomyopathies (150) and, in adults, Bjornstad syndrome (151). In C. elegans, homologues of at least 8 of the 11 human genes encoding complex III subunits have been identified (59).

Three well-characterized complex III subunits are encoded by two nuclear genes, isp-1 and cyc-1, and the mtDNA gene ctb-1; they take their names from their mammalian homologues, Rieske iron sulphur protein, cytochrome c₁, and cytochrome b, respectively. isp-1(qm150) was originally isolated in a screen for animals that are slow to develop and have decreased defecation as a measure of neuromuscular impairment (152). isp-1(qm150) is a perfect example of a "slow" phenotype. They have slower embryonic and postembryonic development, decreased defecation, reduced number of eggs laid, and lower fecundity. isp-1(qm150) mutant animals are long-lived. Consistent with these results, RNAi against the complex III subunit cyc-1 or treatment of wild-type animals with antimycin a, a complex III inhibitor, also extend lifespan (115), and for cyc-1 RNAi, the lifespan extension is suppressed by inactivating the glyoxylate pathway through icl-1(ok531) (136). isp-1(gm150) induce ICL-1 (135), induce the superoxide dismutase, SOD-3 (152), and have increased mtDNA levels (136) as possible compensatory mechanisms. Despite the higher SOD activity, isp-1(gm150) have increased superoxide and unchanged overall ROS levels. Manipulation of the superoxide levels using antioxidants (vitamin C or N-acetyl-L-cysteine) and an oxidant (paraguat) also influenced lifespan (115). Furthermore, isp-1(gm150) are resistant to the antimitotic, hemiasterlin (145), suggesting general stress-tolerance.

expected, isp-1(qm150) As has dramatically defective complex III function. In addition, the I:III:IV supercomplex is severely disrupted. This suggests that the ISP-1 subunit of complex III could act as a direct or indirect stabilizer of the supercomplex through protein-protein interactions or protein conformational changes. Complex I activity, as well as complex I-III activity, is also dramatically impaired in isp-1(qm150), most likely as a direct consequence of disrupted supercomplex-mediated CoQ channeling. Other smaller changes were detected in isp-1(qm150), such as increased complex II activity, decreased NADH ferricyanide reductase activity, decreased complex IV activity staining on a native gel. In summary, the *isp-1(gm150)* mutation causes a profound decrease to complex III and an indirect decrease to complex I activity, the latter due to supercomplex disruption (153). However, it is interesting to note that isp-1(gm150) animals are not hypersensitive to halothane, despite their loss of complex I activity (85).

Serendipitously, ctb-1 was identified as a spontaneous suppressor of the slow rate of development in isp-1(qm150). ctb-1(qm189) suppresses the slow phenotypes but not the long lifespan of isp-1(qm150) (152). A detailed biochemical analysis was undertaken to uncover the molecular mechanisms behind the phenotypes of these mutations (153). On its own, *ctb-1(qm189)* has decreased complex III and complex I-III activity, albeit not as severe as isp-1(gm150). The I:III:IV supercomplex was not disrupted in ctb-1(qm189). Compared to isp-1(gm150), the complex I activity of ctb-1(qm189) is affected to a lesser extent (around 30% in *ctb-1(qm189)* versus 70% in *isp-1(qm150)*), and no change is detected for NADH ferricyanide reductase activity.

When *isp-1(qm150)* and *ctb-1(qm189)* are both present in a double-mutant strain, ctb-1(gm189) is epistatic to isp-1(qm150) for all of these biochemical characteristics except activities involving complex III, which were still severely reduced. *ctb-1(gm189)* rescued the supercomplex instability and complex I defect of isp-1(qm150), as well as the developmental and neuromuscular defects. At the same time, ctb-1(gm189) did not rescue the complex III defect, and no reversal was observed in the lifespan extension phenotype of isp-1(qm150) (153). This suggests that the lifespan is controlled by complex III, and we can assign the "slow" phenotypes to the indirect affect on complex I. These data are consistent with the findings using direct disruption of complex I, via gas-1(fc21), which causes "slow" phenotypes and no lifespan extension. This also means that the ctb-1(gm189) mutation, which causes loss-offunction in complex III, also has a gain-of-function in stabilizing the I:III:IV supercomplex to counteract the destabilizing effects of *isp-1(qm150*).

The acceptor of electrons from complex III is cytochrome c. Cytochrome c is a single water-soluble protein that resides in the intermembrane space and shuttles electrons between complex III and complex IV. In addition to its function in the MRC, cytochrome c functions in programmed cell death, where its release from the mitochondrion during direct activation of apoptosis triggers the caspase cascade. While decreased apoptosis is broadly associated with cancer, increased cytochrome c levels, translocation of cytochrome c to the cytosol, and its accumulation in protein aggregates have been implicated in neurodegenerative disorders (154,155). In *C. elegans*, cytochrome c is encoded by two genes, *cyc-2.1*. and *cyc-2.2*. It is worth noting that

although these genes have not yet been thoroughly investigated, the *C. elegans* cytochromes c have similar biochemical and biophysical properties as their mammalian homologues (156). While cytochrome c is being explored as a drug target to induce apoptosis in cancer, or reduce apoptosis in neurodegenerative disease, animal models such as *C. elegans* may prove useful in evaluating the effects of these compounds on the MRC (157).

3.5. Complex IV

Complex IV, also known as cytochrome c oxidase or COX, terminates the flow of electrons through the MRC by reducing oxygen to water. Electron transfer involves two hemes, cytochrome a, and cytochrome a₃, and two copper centers, the Cu_{Δ} and Cu_{R} centers. Complex IV activity can be regulated by signals including the intramitochondrial ATP/ADP ratio (158). Mitochondrial disorders such as Leigh Syndrome are associated with mutations in at least one subunit of complex IV (159). Additionally, at least 7 genes involved in complex IV assembly are mutated in humans with Leigh Syndrome, keto-acidotic coma, hepatopathy, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, tubulopathy, leukodystrophy (39,78). In C. elegans, homologues of at least 11 of the 16 human genes, encoding complex IV subunits, have been identified (59). Several of these, including homologues of subunits COXVB/cco-1, COXIV, COXVA, and COXVIIC, have been investigated using RNAi, with a combination of qPCR, reduced ATP levels, reduced respiration, and/ or reduced complex IV activity validating knockdown (68,115,160). Numerous classical mutant strains exist for complex IV subunits, and it will be interesting to discover whether the observations made with RNAi are phenocopied by loss-of-function mutations.

RNAi against COXIV, COXVB/cco-1, and COXVA subunits decreases fecundity and slows development (68,160), while RNAi against COXVIIC causes arrest at the second larval stage (160). Stress resistance was variable altered for RNAi of complex IV subunits: COXVB/ cco-1, COXIV, or COXVIIC knockdown caused paraquat hypersensitivity and hydrogen peroxide resistance, while only COXIV knockdown caused thermotolerance in high heat (160). RNAi against COXVB/cco-1, COXIV, COXVA, and COXVIIC all extend lifespan (115,160), although this appears to only be true when 5-fluoro-2'-deoxyuridine (FUdR) is used in the medium to prevent reproduction, suggesting that complex IV dysfunction is worsened by the energy demands of oogenesis (68). Complex IV may also play a role in mitochondrial fission-fusion dynamics, as knockdown of any of three subunits (COXVB/cco-1, COXIV, or COXVIIC) causes hyperfused mitochondrial morphology (160). Interestingly, RNAi against COXVB/cco-1 causes lipid depletion, as does treatment of *C. elegans* with the complex IV inhibitor, sodium azide, and this may be related to human lipodystrophy caused by mitochondrial side-effects of pharmaceuticals (161).

Both COXIV and COXVA RNAi causes a decrease in complex I-dependent respiration and complex I activity, as measured by a spectrophotometric assay of rotenone-sensitive NADH-decylubiquinone oxidoreductase rate, while the NADH-ferricyanide reductase (NFR) activity of complex I and the activity of complex II are not altered. This is likely because the I:III:IV supercomplex levels are diminished, as evidenced by native gels (68). Thus, although the levels of complex I are unchanged, the complex I-dependent activities are reduced due to a lack of CoQ channeling. Despite this decrease in complex I activity, however, RNAi against COXIV and COXVA does not change anesthetic sensitivity, suggesting that the level of complex I, and not its activity, is responsible for the anesthetic response. These data from C. elegans also suggest that human patients that present with reduced activities in complex I and IV may, in fact, have a single genetic defect in complex IV (68).

3.6. Complex V: ATP-2

Finally, complex V of the MRC is the F₀F₁-ATP synthase. Unlike the other complexes and redox carriers mentioned above, it is not directly involved in electron transport. Defects in at least two proteins in complex V assembly are associated with mitochondrial disorders, including a mutation that is found at high incidence in the Roma population. Defects in complex V cause severe disease and are often fatal in early childhood, with symptoms including hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, lactic acidosis, and 3-methylglutaconic aciduria (162, 163).Complex V function may also be indirectly disrupted by mutations in other complexes via the unique ROS sensitivity of certain complex V subunits (164). In C. elegans, homologues for at least 14 of the 16 human genes, encoding complex V subunits, have been identified (59). ATP-2 in C. elegans is homologous to the human ATP5B. The loss-of-function mutation of atp-2(ua2) causes developmental arrest at the third larval stage followed by long life, in homozygous mutant animals with a heterozygous mother. These mutant animals also have neuromuscular defects

of decreased pharynx pumping and defecation and impaired locomotion (110). Mosaic analysis suggests that it is loss of *atp-2* in muscle that is the major contributor to the developmental arrest observed, likely because muscle is energy-demanding (165). RNAi knockdown of *atp-3*, the *C. elegans* homologue of human ATP5O, predictably decreases ATP levels and, like *atp-2(ua2)*, lifespan is extended (115). Further experiments using RNAi against *atp-2* suggest a role for complex V, apart from its role in ATP production, in mediating polycystin signaling, the disruption of which causes polycystic kidney disease (166).

3.7. Indirect modifiers of the mitochondrial respiratory chain: LRS-2, POLG-1, and SOD-2

The mitochondrion is the site of a variety of metabolic and signaling pathways that are disrupted in numerous diseases. A full list of all of these genes and their C. elegans homologues is not within the scope of this review. In this section, we discuss select examples that indirectly affect the MRC through mitochondrial tRNA synthesis. mtDNA replication, and superoxide scavenging. There are 19 nuclear-encoded mitochondrial tRNA synthetases that are required for the translation of mtDNA-encoded genes, all of which function in the MRC. Mutation of at least 8 mitochondrial tRNA synthetases causes nervous-system dysfunction, cardiomyopathy, exercise intolerance, anemia, and kidney failure (167). HARS2 and LARS2, the mitochondrial histidyl- and leucyl-tRNA synthetases, can be mutated to cause Perrault syndrome. This syndrome, which can also be caused by mutations in the mitochondrial protease CLPP or peroxisomal HSD17B4, is characterized by premature ovarian failure and deafness. A loss-of-function mutation in the *C. elegans* homologue of LARS2, *Irs-2(mg312)*, causes complete sterility. These animals fail to produce oocytes, indicating germline arrest, and are therefore an excellent model for ovarian failure in Perrault syndrome (168). Irs-2(mg312) animals have reduced mitochondrial function, with disorganized and swollen mitochondrial morphology. They are small, slow-growing, and longer-lived (160). Although no change was detected to ROS levels, Irs-2(mg312) are hypersensitive to paraquat, which is similar to gas-1(fc21) and mev-1(kn1) but opposite to clk-1.

In addition to the mtDNA mutations mentioned previously, the copy number of mtDNA in each mitochondrion can be altered in disease, particularly in mtDNA depletion syndrome.

Regulating the copy number of mtDNA involves both the efficient, faithful replication of the mtDNA and the segregation of the mtDNA circles when the mitochondrion undergoes fission. C. elegans is an ideal organism to study the replication, transmission, and heteroplasmy of mtDNA during development and across different tissues (59). In C. elegans, the copy number per animal remains relatively constant early in development, when most somatic cell divisions occur. However, the copy number increases 5-fold as the animals enter the fourth larval stage, and 6-fold at the start of adulthood during oogenesis. Further studies with C. elegans have revealed that mtDNA copy number is regulated by germline development and reproductive function: mutants that lack oogenesis do not greatly increase their mtDNA copy number at the start of adulthood (170,169). Although mammalian oogenesis occurs in the fetus and not in the fertile adult, much like C. elegans, mammalian mtDNA is replicated to produce mature oocytes with a high mtDNA copy number (171).

DNA polymerase gamma is responsible for the replication of the mtDNA in humans and C. elegans. Polymerase gamma is mutated in a variety of human diseases including progressive external opthalmoplegia, infantile hepatocerebral syndromes, ataxia-neuropathy syndromes, male infertility, and testicular cancer (172,173). Blocking mtDNA replication with a loss-of-function mutation in the C. elegans DNA polymerase gamma, polg-1(ok1548) causes, in homozygous mutants with heterozygous parents, unchanged levels of mtDNA up to the third larval stage but increasingly lower mtDNA levels during adulthood, with concurrent changes to mitochondrial morphology. These adults are sterile, producing only a few arrested embryos, and are short-lived (170). This mutant may be used as a model to further understand mtDNA depletion syndrome and, theoretically, to search for therapeutic targets.

C. elegans is also a good system to screen for novel factors involved in mtDNA copy number. This can be accomplished by low-dose ethidium bromide that sensitizes the animals to changes in mtDNA copy number. Nine genes known to interact with mtDNA directly or indirectly in humans have C. elegans homologues whose knockdown by RNAi increases larval arrest and decreases mtDNA copy number in the sensitized animals. These genes of interest are polg-1 (described above), mtss-1, hmg-5, Y105E8A.23, dnj-10, C47E12.2., ant-1.4., atad-3, and phi-37 (174). Several of the human homologues

of these are implicated in disease. It will be interesting to employ this strategy for an unbiased genomewide screen to identify novel factors that regulate mtDNA copy number, which may also be novel human disease genes. mtDNA copy number may also be regulated in response to insult, for example when *C. elegans* are exposed to a dose of ultraviolet C radiation where mtDNA mutations accumulate but nuclear DNA mutations are repaired. These animals have decreased ATP levels and respiration rates. likely as a direct consequence of reduced mtDNAencoded MRC components. In order to compensate, polg-1 expression is induced, and mtDNA copy number rises (175). This system may potentially be employed to evaluate therapeutic treatments that could similarly increase mtDNA copy number.

Another way that MRC activity can indirectly be influenced is through damage by ROS. Although, to our knowledge, no patient has been identified with a defect in ROS scavenging as the primary cause of mitochondrial dysfunction, a simultaneous defect in the MRC and in ROS scavenging has been found to correlate with worsened disease (107,176). One class of enzymes that are involved in ROS scavenging is the superoxide dismutases (SODs), which convert toxic superoxide to less reactive hydrogen peroxide. C. elegans have 5 different genes encoding SODs, of which two are mitochondrial: SOD-2 and SOD-3. Although sod-2(gk257) and sod-3(tm760) have no change in lifespan under standard conditions (94), and neither does the RNAi (177), or the double mutant, they can influence the lifespan of sensitized animals with MRC defects. sod-2(gk257) extends the lifespan of gas-1(fc21) (94) and sod-2 RNAi and sod-2(ok1030) extend the lifespan of clk-1(qm30) but not isp-1(qm150) (177,178). sod-2(gk257) and sod-2(ok1030) have a decrease in fecundity, sod-2(ok1030) has slow development and slow defecation, sod-2(gk257) and sod-2 RNAi has an increase in oxidative damage to proteins, sod-2 RNAi has paraguat hypersensitivity, and sod-2(ok1030) has no change to osmotic stress or thermotolerance (94,177,178).

While sod-3(tm760) has no significant change to respiration or electron transport, sod-2(gk257) has a decrease in complex I-dependent respiration, complex I NADH-decylubiquinone oxidoreductase activity, and NADH-ferricyanide reductase (NFR) activity, and no significant change to complex II-dependent respiration or complex II redox activity. The MRC dysfunction in sod-2(gk257) is likely also due to a 30% loss of supercomplex

I:III:IV and I:III stability. In fact, SOD-2 directly binds to the I:III:IV supercomplex, possibly serving a stabilizing function, as evidenced by native immunoblot (94). This novel function of a SOD was discovered in *C. elegans*, and may open new avenues for understanding MRC function, disease, and therapy.

Additional interesting stories not covered here include C. elegans homologues of mitochondrial disease genes OPA1 and DRP1 in mitochondrial fission-fusion dynamics (179,180,181,182,183), frataxin and ABCB7 in ironsulphur cluster biology (184,185,186,187,188,189), mitofilin in mitochondrial christae morphology (190). LRPPRC in mitochondrial RNA metabolism (191), mtSSB in mtDNA maintenance (192), GRO-1 isopentenylpyrophosphate:tRNA transferase (193), carnitine-acylcarnitine translocase (194), ANT in ADP/ATP exchange (195), TPL in thiamine pyrophosphate synthesis (196), and uncoupling proteins (197).

4. MITOCHONDRIAL DEFECTS IN DEVELOPMENT AND LIFESPAN

As noted in the previous sections, development in both humans and C. elegans is often affected by an MRC deficit. Blocking mtDNA replication in *C. elegans* with ethidium bromide, blocking mitochondrial translation with antibiotics, or inducing mtDNA damage using ultraviolet C radiation causes arrest at the third larval stage (110,169,183). Intriguingly, the ethidium bromide-arrested animals were long-lived and the arrest was reversed upon removal of ethidium bromide. The developmental arrest was also similar to that observed in nuo-1(ua1), atp-2(ua2), and clk-1 (on a diet lacking CoQ); in the case of atp-2(ua2), this relies predominantly on presence of ATP-2 in the muscle. These arrests occur before the third and fourth larval stages, when oxygen consumption has been measured to increase in wild-type animals, with a concurrent decrease in glyoxylate cycle activity (69,198). This is followed by increased energy demand during reproduction, and increased mitochondrial proliferation to allow sufficient mitochondrial content in each oocyte. The link between gonad development and mitochondrial function is also consistent with observations in C. elegans regarding the synthesis of cardiolipin, a phospholipid of the inner mitochondrial membrane. which is important to several mitochondrial functions. Deletion mutants crls-1(tm2542) and pgs-1(tm2211), which are defective in cardiolipin synthesis, are sterile. Although somatic cells appear unaffected

as is locomotion, the mutants have impaired cell proliferation, abnormal mitochondrial morphology, and lower mitochondrial membrane potential in the germ cells of the gonad (67).

Many of the genes involved in the mitochondrion are also involved in determining the lifespan of the animal. Repeatedly, under a variety of experimental designs, large-scale screens for lifespan alteration have strikingly yielded MRC subunits and other mitochondrial components. and often with their loss-of-function correlating with lifespan extension (115,160). By one such measurement, genes with mitochondrial function account for 15% of longevity genes, which is higher than any other group (152). It should be noted that C. elegans are sensitive to their environment, and therefore the exact lifespan measurements can depend upon the temperature, food, and other experimental factors, which are reviewed elsewhere (199). Of particular note is the use of 5-fluoro-2'deoxyuridine (FUdR) to sterilize the animals during the lifespan experiment, which can alter the lifespan of certain mutants (200). A general consensus in the field is that gas-1(fc21), nuo-1(ua1 + A352V/T434M/ A443F), mev-1(kn1), sdhb-1(gk165 + P211L/F/H), and polg-1(ok1548) are short-lived, while nuo-1(ua1), nuo-6(qm200), clk-1(e2519), isp-1(qm150), atp-2(ua2), and Irs-2(mg312) are long-lived, with caveats detailed in the previous sections on each mutant.

Interestingly, 5-fluoro-2'-deoxyuridine (FUdR), which has no effect on lifespan in wild-type animals, extends the lifespan of *gas-1* mutant animals (200), while dramatically impairing egg production and larval development (201). This may be, at least in part, because the drug-treated animals have less demand for mitochondrial proliferation during gametogenesis. A similar effect may be at least part of the mechanism behind lifespan extension seen for mutants with decreased fecundity, such as nuo-6(qm200), clk-1(e2519), and isp-1(qm150), although it does not explain short-lived mutants with similarly decreased fecundity, such as gas-1(fc21) and sdhb-1(gk165 + P211L/F/H) Taken together, it is possible that late-larval development may be regulated by an energy-sensing mechanism, perhaps in the muscle and/or gonad, that halts entry into adulthood and gonad development if MRC activity does not meet the increased demand. Another potential effect of this checkpoint is that ATP production rates later in life may be based on the rates early in life, as suggested by an experiment in which cco-1 RNAi was ceased

at entry into adulthood, but ATP production never recovered (115). One provocative hypothesis is that this developmental checkpoint could be controlled by the kinase mTOR, in which the loss-of-function mutation *let-363(h111)* causes developmental arrest at the third larval stage and early death in *C. elegans* (59,202).

It may be counterintuitive that a loss-offunction in something as important as the MRC could extend life. This conundrum has resulted in the debate of several models to explain the observed results. One explanation, termed the "rate of living" hypothesis, argues that the MRC mutants with delayed development and decreased physical activity deplete their life force slower than others. accounting for their longer life (203). Along these lines, it could be argued that any ATP-requiring processes that damage the cells would be slowed along with other cellular functions. This is consistent with "slow" long-lived mutants, such as *nuo-1(ua1)*, nuo-6(qm200), clk-1(e2519), isp-1(qm150), atp-2(ua2), and Irs-2(mg312). However, it does not explain "slow" short-lived mutants, such as gas-1(fc21), nuo-1 point mutants, mev-1(kn1), cog-3(qm188), nor the "slow" isp-1(qm150);ctb-1(qm189) and sod-2(gk257) with normal lifespan.

Along those same lines, the free radical theory of aging hypothesizes that decreased ROS production, and therefore less oxidative damage, allows a healthier, longer life (204). Given that the MRC is the main source of ROS, it follows that MRC mutants with decreased respiration could have decreased ROS and increased lifespan. It could also be argued that MRC mutants could also decrease respiration while increasing ROS, and this would decrease lifespan, and together these arguments are called the mitochondrial oxidative stress theory of aging. This is consistent with certain mutants such as clk-1(e2519), where ROS is decreased and life is extended, and gas-1(fc21), mev-1(kn1), and sdhb-1(gk165 + P211L/F/H), where ROS is increased and life is shortened. However, it does not explain longlived mutants with no change to ROS, such as nuo-6(gm200), isp-1(gm150), and Irs-2(mg312).

Mitochondrial threshold effect theory, or "window of hope," is analogous to the concept of hormesis in pharmacology, and argues that for any single necessary function, while a complete disruption will be detrimental, a small decreased in function could be life-extending. Such small decreases in function can be achieved by mutating

an accessory subunit of a complex, making a small point mutation, knocking down the protein levels only mildly via an inefficient RNAi, or by looking at the first generation where maternal effects mask the full disruption. Taking these theories one step further, the double threshold hypothesis states that different tissues may be able to tolerate a different level of MRC dysfunction, since different tissues have different energy supply and demand. This may explain why phenotypes of different tissues, such as fertility versus locomotion, can be uncoupled in some experiments. It is also consistent with the variety of tissue-specific symptoms seen in patients with MRC dysfunction (205). Mitochondrial threshold effect theory was investigated in an elegant study by targeting MRC components by RNAi in dilution series (73). A three-stage threshold effect is observed for RNAi of atp-3, isp-1, and cco-1 in different dilutions and for RNAi of frh-1 over different generations, and was confirmed in an independent study of RNAi of isp-1 and nuo-6 in different dilutions (72). However, lifespan kept on increasing for higher concentrations of *nuo-2* RNAi and kept on decreasing for higher concentrations of mev-1 RNAi (73), and while nuo-1(ua1) is long-lived, less severe point mutants are short-lived. For the four *sdhb-1* point mutants, no one measure of MRC activity correlates with lifespan: P211L has no effect on live-animal oxygen consumption but has a similar lifespan shortening as the two that have decreased oxygen consumption (P211F and P211H). Also, the one that is not shortlived (P211R) has a similar decrease in reductase activity as for the short-lived point mutants (125).

In instances displaying threshold effect, induction of genes in compensatory pathways may alleviate a mild deficit but be insufficient to rescue a major deficit. There is substantial evidence for altered transcriptional profiles in MRC mutants, and the lifespan and "slow" phenotypes may depend on a subset of the activated transcription factors (206,207,208). In this manner, metabolic reprograming may alleviate MRC defects by activating alternate sources of energy metabolism such as the glyoxylate pathway in clk-1(gm30). isp-1(qm150), and cyc-1 RNAi (135,136). Alternate metabolic pathways may be better than respiration at promoting health and longevity in *C. elegans*, but in some cases metabolic reprogramming can be uncoupled from longevity (207). Other survival pathways may be activated that protect the animal from stress, via the retrograde response model, which is consistent with long-lived mutants that display stress resistance. For example, long-lived

clk-1(e2519) and nuo-6(qm200) are also UV- and paraquat-resistant, respectively, and short-lived nuo-1 point mutants are hyperoxia and paraquat hypersensitive. However, it does not explain long-lived mutants that are stress-sensitive, such as Irs-2(mg312). As an offshoot to this, it has also been hypothesized that a slightly increased level of ROS, and in particular superoxide, could be the messenger that activates the cytoprotective pathways (115). This is consistent with long-lived mutants that have increased superoxide, but no change to overall ROS, such as nuo-6(qm200) and isp-1(qm150).

In summary, no single phenotype is predictive of lifespan, and no single theory is consistent with all lifespan alterations observed. As with many debates in biology, it is possible that any number of these hypotheses are true, and which one is most relevant will depend on the particular gene, allele, and genetic background, as well as the conditions of the experiment. There are many theories and postulated pathways thought to regulate aging, such as in caloric restriction, insulin signaling, and mTOR signaling, which are reviewed elsewhere (209). This is further complicated by the fact that some components have more than one function: cytochrome c also functions in apoptosis, CoQ has redox functions outside of the MRC, and SOD-2 is not only a superoxide dismutase but also a direct stabilizer of the I:III:IV supercomplex. The complexity of the system underscores the utility of more simple model organisms such as C. elegans. and necessitates careful, direct measurements of the biochemical activities involved. This is an active area of exciting current research, and further layers of complexity are sure to be uncovered over the coming decade.

5. CONCLUSION

In this fascinating field of mitochondrial dysfunction, many unanswered questions remain. Experience with *isp-1(qm150);ctb-1(qm189)* demonstrates that identifying the factors that control supercomplex levels, such as SOD-2, will be an important piece of the puzzle. Understanding the molecular players that either help assemble or stabilize complexes could aid in developing future therapies that act by promoting supercomplex availability or decreasing ROS production in patients with mitochondrial defects. Even small improvements in ETC efficiency could translate into noticeable increases in patient health.

To help understand how ROS can simultaneously be damaging and beneficial, precise measurements of superoxide anion and other oxygen species, and not simply ROS in general, might prove enlightening. Perhaps some ROS are purely damaging, while others (potentially superoxide) have cytoprotective signaling roles. If we knew which species is primarily responsible for which function, then we could attempt to modulate them independently. The big black box in this hypothetical pathway is figuring out how ROS mediates the response: is it via a post-translational modification such as the HNE-fluorophore? Is it by a conformational change induced when an oxygen species binds a receptor? Our current understanding of other complex biological pathways. including insulin signaling and apoptosis, has greatly benefitted from research in C. elegans, and so this organism may play a role in mapping out the emerging pathways downstream of oxygen species signaling.

Insights from C. elegans mitochondrial mutants are rapidly building a more complete picture of the biology of aging. No single molecule, mechanism, phenotype, or theory seems to be able to account for all the observed results; this is evidence that there is a complex balance of a combination of factors, such as energy production versus consumption, ROS-mediated signaling versus ROS-mediated damage, and harmful stress versus inducible cytoprotective stress-response pathways, Translating life extension research to the clinic will require assessing the quality of life in the long-lived but stressed animals, such as by measurements of resistance to pathogens. It remains to be seen whether this work will be capable of benefitting children who are diagnosed with primary mitochondrial disorders with a short life expectancy, as the cause of death in patients, often by organ failure, may not necessarily be the type of death that the *C. elegans* long-lived mutants are able to avoid. Results from MRC mutant model organism have also yet to yield practical applications for treating premature aging diseases such as Hutchinson Gilford Progeria Syndrome and Werner Syndrome or diseases associated with aging such as Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease.

Experiments with MRC mutant *C. elegans* have allowed us to evaluate the therapeutic potential of several dietary supplements and drug treatments. These include antioxidants such as vitamin C, vitamin E, and N-acetyl-L-cysteine, potential coenzyme Q

substitutes, and riboflavin. As this area of research unfolds, we are beginning to expand a palette of exciting new potential therapeutic strategies for improving the life expectancy and quality of life for patients with mitochondrial disorders. There is still room for *C. elegans* MRC mutant secondary screens for phenotype reversal. Genetic suppressor screens may help identify therapeutic targets for which inhibitor compounds or blocking antibodies could alleviate symptoms in patients with mitochondrial disorders. Pharmacologic suppressor screens, or chemical genetics, may help identify promising drug classes as well as targets. Some methods exist for high-throughput drug screening in C. elegans, but these have yet to be applied to primary mitochondrial disorders. It is clear that C. elegans models of disease will undoubtedly continue to provide a useful system for identifying and evaluating novel therapies in mitochondrial biomedicine.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the Northwest Mitochondrial Research Guild for funding and support. We thank Ernst-Bernhard Kayser for valuable discussions. We also thank Paul Sternberg and the entire staff of WormBase, an online resource for nematode researchers, for their ongoing support.

7. REFERENCES

- Altmann, R. Die Elementarorganismen und ihre Beziehungen zu den Zellen. Leipzig: Viet (1890)
- Michaelis, L. Die vitale Färbung, eine Darstellungsmethode der Zellgranula. Arch. Mikrosk. Anat., 55(1): 558-575 (1899)

DOI: 10.1007/BF02977747

 Palade, G. The fine structure of mitochondria. Anat. Rec., 114 (3): 427-451 (1952)

DOI: 10.1002/ar.1091140304

- 4. Ernster, L., & Schatz, G. Mitochondria: A Historical Review. J. Cell Biol., 91(3.2.): 227-255 (1981)
- Chance, B., & Williams, G. Respiratory enzymes in oxidative phosphorylation.
 Kinetics of oxygen utilization. J Biol Chem, 217(1): 383-393 (1955)

- 6. Mitchell, P. Coupling of phosphorylation to electron and hydrogen transfer by a chemi-osmotic type of mechanism. Nature, 191: 144-148 (1961) DOI: 10.1038/191144a0
- McBride, H., Neuspiel, M., & Wasiak, S. Mitochondria: more than just a powerhouse. Curr Biol, 16(14): R551-560 (2006)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.cub.2006.06.054
- Poyton, R., & McEwen, J. Crosstalk between nuclear and mitochondrial genomes. Annu Rev Biochem, 65: 563-607 (1996)
 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.bi.65.070196.003 023
- Suen, D., Norris, K., & Youle, R. Mitochondrial dynamics and apoptosis. Genes Dev, 22(12): 1577–1590 (2008) DOI: 10.1101/gad.1658508
- Burgio, G., Onorati, M., & Corona, D. Chromatin remodeling regulation by small molecules and metabolites. BBA Gene Regulatory Mechanisms, 1799(10–12): 671–680 (2010)
- Clingman, C., & Ryder, S. Metabolite sensing in eukaryotic mRNA biology. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA, 4(4): 387-396 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1002/wrna.1167
- Tonack, S., Tang, C., & Offermanns, S. Endogenous metabolites as ligands for G protein-coupled receptors modulating risk factors for metabolic and cardiovascular disease. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 304(4): H501-513 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1152/ajpheart.00641.2012
- Wallace, D., & Fan, W. Energetics, epigenetics, mitochondrial genetics. Mitochondrion, 10(1): 12–31 (2010)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.mito.2009.09.006
- Düvel, K., Yecies, J., Menon, S., Raman, P., Lipovsky, A., Souza, A., Manning, B. Activation of a metabolic gene regulatory network downstream of mTOR complex 1. Mol Cell, 39(2): 171-183 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.06.022

214

- Johri, A., & Beal, M. Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Neurodegenerative Diseases. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 342(3): 619–630 (2012)
 DOI: 10.1124/jpet.112.192138
- Davis, R., & Williams, M. Mitochondrial Function and Dysfunction: An Update. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 342(3): 598-607 (2012)

DOI: 10.1124/jpet.112.192104

- Selak, M., Armour, S., MacKenzie, E., Boulahbel, H., Watson, D., Mansfield, K., Gottlieb, E. Succinate links TCA cycle dysfunction to oncogenesis by inhibiting HIF-α prolyl hydroxylase. Cancer Cell, 7(1): 77-85 (2005) DOI: 10.1016/j.ccr.2004.11.022
- Vander Heiden, M., Cantley, L., & Thompson, C. Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. Science, 324(5930): 1029-1033 (2009)
 DOI: 10.1126/science.1160809
- Hendrickson, S., Lautenberger, J., Chinn, L., Malasky, M., Sezgin, E., Kingsley, L., O'Brien, S. Genetic variants in nuclearencoded mitochondrial genes influence AIDS progression. PLoS One, 5(9): e12862 (2010) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012862
- Lascaratos, G., Garway-Heath, D., Willoughby, C., Chau, K., & Schapira, A. Mitochondrial dysfunction in glaucoma: understanding genetic influences. Mitochondrion, 12(2): 202-212 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.mito.2011.11.004
- 21. Huang, S., Wang, G., Jiang, Y., Yuan, Y., Han, D., Song, Y., & Dai, P. Phenotype and genotype of deaf patients with combined genomic and mitochondrial inheritance models. Mitochondrion, S1567-7249(13)00078-0 (2013)
- 22. Niemann, B., Chen, Y., Teschner, M., Li, L., Silber, R., & Rohrbach, S. Obesity induces signs of premature cardiac aging in younger patients: the role of mitochondria. J Am Coll Cardiol, 57(5):

- 577-585 (2011) DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.09.040
- Walters, A., Porter, G. J., & Brookes, P. Mitochondria as a drug target in ischemic heart disease and cardiomyopathy. Circ Res, 111(9): 1222-1236 (2012)
 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.112.265660
- 24. Davidson, S. Endothelial mitochondria and heart disease. Cardiovasc Res, 88(1): 58-66 (2010)
 DOI: 10.1093/cvr/cvq195
- Sims, N., & Muyderman, H. Mitochondria, oxidative metabolism and cell death in stroke. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1802(1): 80-91 (2010)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2009.09.003
- Chauhan, A., Gu, F., Essa, M., Wegiel, J., Kaur, K., Brown, W., & Chauhan, V. Brain region-specific deficit in mitochondrial electron transport chain complexes in children with autism. J Neurochem, 117(2): 209-220 (2011) DOI: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011.07189.x
- Da Sylva, T., Connor, A., Mburu, Y., Keystone, E., & Wu, G. Somatic mutations in the mitochondria of rheumatoid arthritis synoviocytes. Arthritis Res Ther, 7(4): R844-851 (2005)
 DOI: 10.1186/ar1752
- Mahad, D., Lassmann, H., & Turnbull, D. Review: Mitochondria and disease progression in multiple sclerosis. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol, 34(6): 577-589 (2008)
 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2990.2008.00987.x
- Bratic, A., & Larsson, N. The role of mitochondria in aging. J Clin Invest, 123(3): 951-957 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1172/JCI64125
- Leavesley, H., Li, L., Mukhopadhyay, S., Borowitz, J., & Isom, G. Nitrite-mediated antagonism of cyanide inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase in dopamine neurons. Toxicol Sci, 115(2): 569-576 (2010)

DOI: 10.1093/toxsci/kfq084

- Das, J., Ghosh, J., Manna, P., & Sil, P. Protective Role of Taurine against Arsenic-Induced Mitochondria-Dependent Hepatic Apoptosis via the Inhibition of PKCδ-JNK Pathway. PLoS One, 5(9): e12602 (2010) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012602
- Muravchick, S., & Levy, R. Clinical implications of mitochondrial dysfunction. Anesthesiology, 105(4): 819-837 (2006)
 DOI: 10.1097/00000542-200610000-00029
- Scatena, R., Bottoni, P., Botta, G., Martorana, G., & Giardina, B. The role of mitochondria in pharmacotoxicology: a reevaluation of an old, newly emerging topic. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 293(1): C12-21 (2007)
 DOI: 10.1152/ajpcell.00314.2006
- Schaefer, A., Taylor, R., Turnbull, D.,
 & Chinnery, P. The epidemiology of mitochondrial disorders--past, present and future. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1659(2-3): 115-120 (2004)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2004.09.005
- 35. Brandon, M., Baldi, P., & Wallace, D. Mitochondrial mutations in cancer. Oncogene, 25(34): 4647-4662 (2006) DOI: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209607
- Saneto, R., & Sedensky, M. Mitochondrial disease in childhood: mtDNA encoded. Neurotherapeutics, 10(2): 199-211 (2013) DOI: 10.1007/s13311-012-0167-0
- Wong, L. Molecular Genetics of Mitochondrial Disorders. Dev Disabil Res Rev, 16: 154-162 (2010) DOI: 10.1002/ddrr.104
- Elstner M, A. C., Ahting, U., Tetko, I., Klopstock, T., Meitinger, T., & Prokisch, H. MitoP2: an integrative tool for the analysis of the mitochondrial proteome. Mol Biotechnol, 40(3): 306-315 (2008) DOI: 10.1007/s12033-008-9100-5
- DiMauro, S., & Garone, C. Historical Perspective on Mitochondrial Medicine. Devt Disab Res Rev, 16: 106-113 (2010) DOI: 10.1002/ddrr.102
- 40. Elliott, H., Samuels, D., Eden, J.,

- Relton, C., & Chinnery, P. Pathogenic mitochondrial DNA mutations are common in the general population. Am J Hum Genet, 83(2): 254-260 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2008.07.004
- McFarland, R., Clark, K., Morris, A., Taylor, R., Macphail, S., Lightowlers, R., & Turnbull, D. Multiple neonatal deaths due to a homoplasmic mitochondrial DNA mutation. Nat Genet, 30(2): 145-146 (2002) DOI: 10.1038/ng819
- Shoffner, J., & Wallace, D. Oxidative Phosphorylation Diseases and Mitochondrial DNA Mutations: Diagnosis and Treatment. Annu. Rev. Nutr., 14: 535-568 (1994)
 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.nu.14.070194.002 535
- Wallace, D. Mouse Models for Mitochondrial Disease. American Journal of Medical Genetics, 106: 71-93 (2001) DOI: 10.1002/ajmq.1393
- 44. Rea, S., Graham, B., Nakamaru-Ogiso, E., Kar, A., & Falk, M. Bacteria, Yeast, Worms, and Flies: Exploiting Simple Model Organisms to Investigate Human Mitochondrial Diseases. Dev Disabil Res Rev, 16: 200-218 (2010) DOI: 10.1002/ddrr.114
- Jenuth, J., Peterson, A., & Shoubridge,
 E. Tissue-specific selection for different mtDNA genotypes in heteroplasmic mice.
 Nat Genet, 16(1): 93-5 (1997)
 DOI: 10.1038/ng0597-93
- Jorgensen, E. Neurobiology and Behavior. In WormBook. http://www.wormbook.org: The C. elegans Research Community (2013)
- 47. Kenyon, C., Chang, J., Gensch, E., Rudner, A., & Tabtiang, R. A C. elegans mutant that lives twice as long as wild type. Nature, 366(6454): 461-464 (1993) DOI: 10.1038/366461a0
- 48. Friedman, D., & Johnson, T. A mutation in the age-1 gene in Caenorhabditis elegans lengthens life and reduces hermaphrodite

- fertility. Genetics, 118(1): 75-86 (1988)
- Klass, M. A method for the isolation of longevity mutants in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans and initial results. Mech Ageing Dev, 22(3-4): 279-286 (1983)
 - DOI: 10.1016/0047-6374(83)90082-9
- Gravato-Nobre, M., & Hodgkin, J. Caenorhabditis elegans as a model for innate immunity to pathogens. Cellular Microbiology, 7(6): 741–751 (2005)
 DOI: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2005.00523.x
- Timmons, L., & Fire, A. Specific interference by ingested dsRNA. Nature, 395: 854 (1998)
 DOI: 10.1038/27579
- 52. Rand, J., & Johnson, C. Genetic pharmacology: interactions between drugs and gene products in Caenorhabditis elegans. Methods Cell Biol, 48: 187-204 (1995) DOI: 10.1016/S0091-679X(08)61388-6
- Chalfie, M., Tu, Y., Euskirchen, G., Ward, W., & Prasher, D. Green fluorescent protein as a marker for gene expression. Science, 263(5148): 802-805 (1994) DOI: 10.1126/science.8303295
- Kayser, E., Morgan, P., Hoppel, C., & Sedensky, M. Mitochondrial expression and function of GAS-1 in Caenorhabditis elegans. J Biol Chem, 276(23): 20551-20558 (2001)
 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M011066200
- Chen, X., Thorburn, D., Wong, L., Vladutiu, G., Haas, R., Le, T., Hahn, S. Quality improvement of mitochondrial respiratory chain complex enzyme assays using Caenorhabditis elegans. Genet Med, 13(9): 794-799 (2011)
 DOI: 10.1097/GIM.0b013e31821afca5
- Okimoto, R., Macfarlane, J., Clary, D.,
 Wolstenholme, D. The mitochondrial genomes of two nematodes,
 Caenorhabditis elegans and Ascaris suum. Genetics, 130(3): 471-498 (1992)
- 57. Denver, D., Morris, K., Lynch, M.,

- Vassilieva, L., & Thomas, W. High direct estimate of the mutation rate in the mitochondrial genome of Caenorhabditis elegans. Science, 289(5488): 2342-2344 (2000)
- DOI: 10.1126/science.289.5488.2342
- Jorgensen, E., & Mango, S. The art and design of genetic screens: caenorhabditis elegans. Nat Rev Genet, 3(5): 356-369 (2002)
 DOI: 10.1038/nrg794
- Tsang, W., & Lemire, B. The role of mitochondria in the life of the nematode, Caenorhabditis elegans. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1638(2): 91-105 (2003) DOI: 10.1016/S0925-4439(03)00079-6
- 60. Rao, A., Carta, L., Lesuisse, E., & Hamza, I. Lack of heme synthesis in a free-living eukaryote. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 102(12): 4270-4275 (2005) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0500877102
- Jonassen, T., Larsen, P., & Clarke, C. A dietary source of coenzyme Q is essential for growth of long-lived Caenorhabditis elegans clk-1 mutants. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 98(2): 421-426 (2001)
 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.98.2.421
- 62. Liu, F., Thatcher, J., Barral, J., & Epstein, H. Bifunctional glyoxylate cycle protein of Caenorhabditis elegans: a developmentally regulated protein of intestine and muscle. Dev Biol, 169(2): 399-414 (1995)

 DOI: 10.1006/dbio.1995.1156
- Patel, T., & McFadden, B. Particulate isocitrate lyase and malate synthase in Caenorhabditis elegans. Arch Biochem Biophys, 183(1): 24-30 (1977) DOI: 10.1016/0003-9861(77)90414-3
- 64. Murfitt, R., Vogel, K., & Sanadi, D. Characterization of the mitochondria of the free-living nematode, caenorhabditis elegans. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol, 53(4): 423–430 (1976) DOI: 10.1016/0305-0491(76)90191-7
- 65. Chicco, A., & Sparagna, G. Role of cardiolipin alterations in mitochondrial

- dysfunction and disease. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 292(1): C33-44 (2007) DOI: 10.1152/ajpcell.00243.2006
- Claypool, S., & Koehler, C. The complexity of cardiolipin in health and disease. Trends Biochem Sci, 37(1): 32-41 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.tibs.2011.09.003
- 67. Sakamoto, T., Inoue, T., Otomo, Y., Yokomori, N., Ohno, M., Arai, H., & Nakagawa, Y. Deficiency of cardiolipin synthase causes abnormal mitochondrial function and morphology in germ cells of Caenorhabditis elegans. J Biol Chem, 287(7): 4590-4601 (2012) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M111.314823
- Suthammarak, W., Yang, Y., Morgan, P., & Sedensky, M. Complex I function is defective in complex IV-deficient Caenorhabditis elegans. J Biol Chem, 284: 6425-6435 (2009)
 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M805733200
- 69. Wadsworth, W., & Riddle, D. Developmental regulation of energy metabolism in Caenorhabditis elegans. Dev Biol, 132(1): 167-173 (1989) DOI: 10.1016/0012-1606(89)90214-5
- Tsang, W., & Lemire, B. Stable heteroplasmy but differential inheritance of a large mitochondrial DNA deletion in nematodes. Biochem Cell Biol, 80: 645– 654 (2002) DOI: 10.1139/o02-135
- Ichishita, R., Tanaka, K., Sugiura, Y., Sayano, T., Mihara, K., & Oka, T. An RNAi screen for mitochondrial proteins required to maintain the morphology of the organelle in Caenorhabditis elegans. J Biochem, 143(4): 449-454 (2008) DOI: 10.1093/jb/mvm245
- Yang, W., & Hekimi, S. Two modes of mitochondrial dysfunction lead independently to lifespan extension in Caenorhabditis elegans. Aging Cell, 9(3): 433-447 (2010)
 DOI: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2010.00571.x
- 73. Rea, S., Ventura, N., & Johnson, T. Relationship between mitochondrial

- electron transport chain dysfunction, development, and life extension in Caenorhabditis elegans. PLoS Biol, 5(10): e259 (2007)
 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0050259
- 74. Carrol, J., Fearnley, I., Skehel, J., Shannon, R., Hirst, J., & Walker, J. Bovine complex I is a component of 45 different subunits. J Biol Chem, 281: 32724–32727 (2006)

 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M607135200
- Hoefs, S., Skjeldal, O., Rodenburg, R., Nedregaard, B., van Kaauwen, E., Spiekerkötter, U., van den Heuvel, L. Novel mutations in the NDUFS1 gene cause low residual activities in human complex I deficiencies. Mol Genet Metab, 100(3): 251-256 (2010)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2010.03.015
- Saada, A., Vogel, R., Hoefs, S., van den Brand, M., Wessels, H., Willems, P., Nijtmans, L. Mutations in NDUFAF3 (C3ORF60), encoding an NDUFAF4 (C6ORF66)-interacting complex I assembly protein, cause fatal neonatal mitochondrial disease. Am J Hum Genet, 84(6): 718-727 (2009) DOI: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2009.04.020
- Ogilvie, I., Kennaway, N., & Shoubridge, E. A molecular chaperone for mitochondrial complex I assembly is mutated in a progressive encephalopathy. J Clin Invest, 115(10): 2784-2792 (2005) DOI: 10.1172/JCI26020
- Zeviani, M., Spinazzola, A., & Carelli,
 V. Nuclear genes in mitochondrial disorders. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development, 13(3): 262–270 (2003)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0959-437X(03)00052-2
- Falk, M., Rosenjack, J., Polyak, E., Suthammarak, W., Chen, Z., Morgan, P., & Sedensky, M. Subcomplex Ilambda specifically controls integrated mitochondrial functions in Caenorhabditis elegans. PLoS ONE, 4(8): e6607 (2009) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0006607
- 80. Marin, S., Mesterman, R., Robinson,

- B., Rodenburg, R., Smeitink, J., & Tarnopolsky, M. Leigh syndrome associated with mitochondrial complex I deficiency due to novel mutations In NDUFV1 and NDUFS2. Gene, 516(1): 162-167 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.gene.2012.12.024
- Loeffen, J., Elpeleg, O., Smeitink, J., Smeets, R., Stöckler-Ipsiroglu, S., Mandel, H., van den Heuvel, L. Mutations in the complex I NDUFS2 gene of patients with cardiomyopathy and encephalomyopathy. Ann Neurol, 49(2): 195-201 (2001) DOI: 10.1002/1531-8249(20010201)49: 2<195::AID-ANA39>3.0.CO;2-M
- 82. Tuppen, H., Hogan, V., He, L., Blakely, E., Worgan, L., Al-Dosary, M., Taylor, R. The p.M292T NDUFS2 mutation causes complex I-deficient Leigh syndrome in multiple families. Brain, 133(10): 2952-2963 (2010) DOI: 10.1093/brain/awq232
- 83. Ngu, L., Nijtmans, L., Distelmaier, F., Venselaar, H., van Emst-de Vries, S., van den Brand, M., Rodenburg, R. A catalytic defect in mitochondrial respiratory chain complex I due to a mutation in NDUFS2 in a patient with Leigh syndrome. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1822(2): 168-175 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2011.10.012
- 84. Kayser, E., Morgan, P., & Sedensky, M. GAS-1: a mitochondrial protein controls sensitivity to volatile anesthetics in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Anesthesiology, 90(2): 545-554 (1999) DOI: 10.1097/00000542-199902000-00031
- 85. Falk, M., Kayser, E., Morgan, P., & Sedensky, M. Mitochondrial Complex I Function Modulates Volatile Anesthetic Sensitivity in C. elegans. Curr Biol, 16(16): 1641-1645 (2006)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.cub.2006.06.072
- Morgan, P., Hoppel, C., & Sedensky, M. Mitochondrial defects and anesthetic sensitivity. Anesthesiology, 96(5): 1268-1270 (2002)
 DOI: 10.1097/00000542-200205000-00036

- 87. Quintana, A., Morgan, P., Kruse, S., Palmiter, R., & Sedensky, M. Altered anesthetic sensitivity of mice lacking Ndufs4, a subunit of mitochondrial complex I. PLoS One, 7(8): e42904 (2012)

 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0042904
- Niezgoda, J., & Morgan, P. Anesthetic considerations in patients with mitochondrial defects. Paediatr Anaesth, 23(9): 785-793 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1111/pan.12158
- Gentry, K., Steele, L., Sedensky, M., & Morgan, P. Early developmental exposure to volatile anesthetics causes behavioral defects in Caenorhabditis elegans. Anesth Analg, 21(6): 956-969 (2010)
- 90. Jevtovic-Todorovic, V., Hartman, R., Izumi, Y., Benshoff, N., Dikranian, K., Zorumski, C., Wozniak, D. Early exposure to common anesthetic agents causes widespread neurodegeneration in the developing rat brain and persistent learning deficits. J Neurosci, 23(3): 876-882 (2003)
- 91. Flick, R., Katusic, S., Colligan, R., Wilder, R., Voigt, R., Olson, M., Warner, D. Cognitive and behavioral outcomes after early exposure to anesthesia and surgery. Pediatrics, 128(5): e1053-1061 (2011) DOI: 10.1542/peds.2011-0351
- Xi, J., Liu, R., Asbury, G., Eckenhoff, M., & Eckenhoff, R. Inhalational anestheticbinding proteins in rat neuronal membranes. J Biol Chem, 279(19): 19628-19633 (2004) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M313864200
- 93. Kayser, E., Suthammarak, W., Morgan, P., & Sedensky, M. Isoflurane Selectively Inhibits Distal Mitochondrial Complex I in Caenorhabditis Elegans. Anesth Analg, 112(6): 1321-1329 (2011)
 DOI: 10.1213/ANE.0b013e3182121d37
- Suthammarak, W., Somerlot, B., Opheim, E., Sedensky, M., & Morgan, P. Novel Interactions between Mitochondrial Superoxide Dismutases and the Electron

- Transport Chain. Aging Cell (2013) DOI: 10.1111/acel.12144
- Hartman, P., Ishii, N., Kayser, E., Morgan, P., & Sedensky, M. Mitochondrial mutations differentially affect aging, mutability and anesthetic sensitivity in Caenorhabditis elegans. Mech Ageing Dev, 122(11): 1187-1201 (2001)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0047-6374(01)00259-7
- 96. Kayser, E., Sedensky, M., & Morgan, P. The effects of complex I function and oxidative damage on lifespan and anesthetic sensitivity in Caenorhabditis elegans. Mech Ageing Dev, 125(6): 455-464 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.mad.2004.04.002
- 97. Yen, M., Lee, H., Liu, J., & Wei, Y. Compensatory elevation of complex II activity in Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy. Br J Ophthalmol, 80(1): 78-81 (1996)
 DOI: 10.1136/bjo.80.1.78
- 98. Engel, W., & Cunningham, C. Rapid examination of muscle tissue: an improved trichrome stain method for fresh-frozen biopsy sections. Neurology, 13: 919-923 (1963)

 DOI: 10.1212/WNL.13.11.919
- 99. Quinlan, C., Goncalves, R., Hey-Mogensen, M., Yadavara, N., Bunik, V., & Brand, M. The 2-oxoacid dehydrogenase complexes in mitochondria can produce superoxide/hydrogen peroxide at much higher rates than complex I. J. Biol. Chem., 289(12): 8312-8325 (2014) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M113.545301
- 100. Turrens, J. Mitochondrial formation of reactive oxygen species. J Physiol, 552(Pt 2): 335-344 (2003) DOI: 10.1113/jphysiol.2003.049478
- 101. Tompkins, A., Burwell, L., Digerness, S., Zaragoza, C., Holman, W., & Brookes, P. Mitochondrial dysfunction in cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury: ROS from complex I, without inhibition. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1762(2): 223-231 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2005.10.001

- 102. Verkaart, S., Koopman, W., van Emst-de Vries, S., Nijtmans, L., van den Heuvel, L., Smeitink, J., & Willems, P. Superoxide production is inversely related to complex I activity in inherited complex I deficiency. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1772(3): 373-381 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2006.12.009
- 103. Luo, X., Pitkänen, S., Kassovska-Bratinova, S., Robinson, B., & Lehotay, D. Excessive formation of hydroxyl radicals and aldehydic lipid peroxidation products in cultured skin fibroblasts from patients with complex I deficiency. J Clin Invest, 99(12): 2877-2882 (1997) DOI: 10.1172/JCI119481
- 104. Koopman, W., Verkaart, S., van Emst-de Vries, S., Grefte, S., Smeitink, J., Nijtmans, L., & Willems, P. Mitigation of NADH: ubiquinone oxidoreductase deficiency by chronic Trolox treatment. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1777(7-8): 853-859 (2008)

 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2008.03.028
- 105. Ishiguro, H., Yasuda, K., Ishii, N., Ihara, K., Ohkubo, T., Hiyoshi, M., Tsuda, M. Enhancement of oxidative damage to cultured cells and Caenorhabditis elegans by mitochondrial electron transport inhibitors. IUBMB Life, 51(4): 263-268 (2001)
 DOI: 10.1080/152165401753311816
- 106. Bar-Meir, M., Elpeleg, O., & Saada, A. Effect of various agents on adenosine triphosphate synthesis in mitochondrial complex I deficiency. J Pediatr, 139(6): 868-870 (2001)
 - DOI: 10.1067/mpd.2001.118885
- Pitkanen, S., & Robinson, B. Mitochondrial complex I deficiency leads to increased production of superoxide radicals and induction of superoxide dismutase. J Clin Invest, 98(2): 345-351 (1996) DOI: 10.1172/JCI118798
- 108. Qi, X., Lewin, A., Sun, L., Hauswirth, W., & Guy, J. SOD2 gene transfer protects against optic neuropathy induced by

- deficiency of complex I. Ann Neurol, 56(2): 182-191 (2004)
 DOI: 10.1002/ana.20175
- 109. Dingley, S., Polyak, E., Lightfoot, R., Ostrovsky, J., Rao, M., Greco, T., Falk, M. Mitochondrial respiratory chain dysfunction variably increases oxidant stress in Caenorhabditis elegans. Mitochondrion, 10(2): 125-136 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.mito.2009.11.003
- 110. Tsang, W., Sayles, L., Grad, L., Pilgrim, D., & Lemire, B. Mitochondrial respiratory chain deficiency in Caenorhabditis elegans results in developmental arrest and increased life span. J Biol Chem, 276(34): 32240-32246 (2001) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M103999200
- 111. Grad, L., & Lemire, B. Mitochondrial complex I mutations in Caenorhabditis elegans produce cytochrome c oxidase deficiency, oxidative stress and vitaminresponsive lactic acidosis. Hum Mol Genet, 13(3): 303-314 (2004) DOI: 10.1093/hmg/ddh027
- 112. Grad, L., & Lemire, B. Riboflavin enhances the assembly of mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase in C. elegans NADH-ubiquinone oxidoreductase mutants. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1757(2): 115-122 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2005.11.009
- 113. Johnson, D., & Nehrke, K. Mitochondrial fragmentation leads to intracellular acidification in Caenorhabditis elegans and mammalian cells. Mol Biol Cell, 21(13): 2191-9201 (2010) DOI: 10.1091/mbc.E09-10-0874
- 114. Grad, L., Sayles, L., & Lemire, B. Introduction of an additional pathway for lactate oxidation in the treatment of lactic acidosis and mitochondrial dysfunction in Caenorhabditis elegans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 102(51): 18367-18372 (2005) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0506939102
- Dillin, A., Hsu, A., Arantes-Oliveira, N., Lehrer-Graiwer, J., Hsin, H., Fraser, A., Kenyon, C. Rates of Behavior and Aging

- Specified by Mitochondrial Function During Development. Science, 298(5602): 2398-2401 (2002) DOI: 10.1126/science.1077780
- 116. Yang, W., & Hekimi, S. A mitochondrial superoxide signal triggers increased longevity in Caenorhabditis elegans. PLoS Biol, 8(12): e1000556 (2010) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1000556
- 117. Bourgeron, T., Rustin, P., Chretien, D., Birch-Machin, M., Bourgeois, M., Viegas-Péquignot, E., Rötig, A. Mutation of a nuclear succinate dehydrogenase gene results in mitochondrial respiratory chain deficiency. Nat Genet, 11(2): 144-149 (1995) DOI: 10.1038/ng1095-144
- 118. Ishii, N., Fujii, M., Hartman, P., Tsuda, M., Yasuda, K., Senoo-Matsuda, N., Suzuki, K. A mutation in succinate dehydrogenase cytochrome b causes oxidative stress and ageing in nematodes. Nature, 394(6694): 694-697 (1998)
 DOI: 10.1038/29331
- 119. Ishii, N., Takahashi, K., Tomita, S., Keino, T., Honda, S., Yoshino, K., & Suzuki, K. A methyl viologen-sensitive mutant of the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Mutat Res, 237(3-4): 165-171 (1990) DOI: 10.1016/0921-8734(90)90022-J
- 120. Senoo-Matsuda, N., Yasuda, K., Tsuda, M., Ohkubo, T., Yoshimura, S., Nakazawa, H., Ishii, N. A defect in the cytochrome b large subunit in complex II causes both superoxide anion overproduction and abnormal energy metabolism in Caenorhabditis elegans. J Biol Chem, 276(45): 41553-41558 (2001) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M104718200
- 121. Ishii, N., Goto, S., & Hartman, P. Protein oxidation during aging of the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Free Radic Biol Med, 33(8): 1021-1025 (2002)
 DOI: 10.1016/S0891-5849(02)00857-2
- Melov, S., Ravenscroft, J., Malik, S., Gill, M., Walker, D., Clayton, P., Lithgow, G. Extension of life-span with superoxide

- dismutase/catalase mimetics. Science, 289(5484): 1567-1569 (2000) DOI: 10.1126/science.289.5484.1567
- 123. Maier-Woelfle. M.. Brändle. M.. Komminoth, P., Saremaslani, P., Schmid, S., Locher, T., Perren, A. A novel succinate dehydrogenase subunit B gene mutation, H132P, causes familial malignant sympathetic extraadrenal paragangliomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 89(1): 362-367 (2004) DOI: 10.1210/jc.2003-031236
- 124. Astuti, D., Latif, F., Dallol, A., Dahia, P., Douglas, F., George, E., Maher, E. Gene mutations in the succinate dehydrogenase subunit SDHB cause susceptibility to familial pheochromocytoma and to familial paraganglioma. Am J Hum Genet, 69(1): 49-54 (2001) DOI: 10.1086/321282
- 125. Huang, J., & Lemire, B. Mutations in the C. elegans succinate dehydrogenase iron-sulphur subunit promote superoxide generation and premature aging. J. Mol. Biol., 387: 559-569 (2009) DOI: 10.1016/j.jmb.2009.02.028
- 126. Ichimiya, H., Huet, R., Hartman, P., Amino, H., Kita, K., & Ishii, N. Complex Il inactivation is lethal in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Mitochondrion, 2(3): 191-198 (2002) DOI: 10.1016/S1567-7249(02)00069-7
- 127. Kuang, J., & Ebert, P. The failure to extend lifespan via disruption of complex II is linked to preservation of dynamic control of energy metabolism. Mitochondrion, 12: 280-287 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.mito.2011.10.003
- 128. Quinzii, C., & Hirano, M. Coenzyme Q and mitochondrial disease. Dev Disabil Res Rev, 16(2): 183-188 (2010) DOI: 10.1002/ddrr.108
- 129. Ewbank, J., Barnes, T., Lakowski, B., Lussier, M., Bussey, H., & Hekimi, S. Structural and functional conservation of the Caenorhabditis elegans timing gene clk-1. Science, 275(5302): 980-983 (1997)

- DOI: 10.1126/science.275.5302.980
- 130. Wong, A., Boutis, P., & Hekimi, S. Mutations in the clk-1 gene of Caenorhabditis elegans affect developmental behavioral timing. Genetics, 139(3): 1247-1259 (1995)
- 131. Takahashi, M., Ogawara, M., Shimizu, T., & Shirasawa, T. Restoration of the behavioral rates and lifespan in clk-1 mutant nematodes in response to exogenous coenzyme Q(10). Exp Gerontol, 47(3): 276-279 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.exger.2011.12.012
- 132. Wang, Y., Branicky, R., Stepanyan, Z., Carroll, M., Guimond, M., Hihi, A., Hekimi, S. The antineurodegeneration drug clioquinol inhibits aging-associated protein CLK-1. J Biol Chem, 284: 314-323 (2009) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M807579200
- 133. Hihi, A., Gao, Y., & Hekimi, S. Ubiquinone is necessary for Caenorhabditis elegans development at mitochondrial and nonmitochondrial sites. J Biol Chem., 277(3): 2202-2206 (2002) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M109034200
- 134. Miyadera, H., Amino, H., Hiraishi, A., Taka, H., Murayama, K., Miyoshi, H., Kita, K. Altered quinone biosynthesis in the long-lived clk-1 mutants of caenorhabditis elegans. J Biol Chem, 276: 7713-7716 (2001)DOI: 10.1074/jbc.C000889200
- 135. Gallo, M., Park, D., & Riddle, D. Increased longevity of some C. elegans mitochondrial mutants explained by activation of an alternative energyproducing pathway. Mech Ageing Dev, 132(10): 515-518 (2011) DOI: 10.1016/j.mad.2011.08.004
- 136. Cristina, D., Cary, M., Lunceford, A., Clarke, C., & Kenyon, C. A Regulated Response to Impaired Respiration Slows Behavioral Rates and Increases Lifespan in Caenorhabditis elegans. PLoS Genet, 5(4): e1000450 (2009) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000450

- 137. Gorbunova, V., & Seluanov, A. CLK-1 protein has DNA binding activity specific to O(L) region of mitochondrial DNA. FEBS Lett, 516(1-3): 279-284 (2002) DOI: 10.1016/S0014-5793(02)02568-1
- 138. Pobezhimova, T., & Voinikov, V. Biochemical and physiological aspects of ubiquinone function. Membr Cell Biol., 13(5): 595-602 (2000)
- 139. Felkai, S., Ewbank, J., Lemieux, J., Labbé, J., Brown, G., & Hekimi, S. CLK-1 controls respiration, behavior and aging in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. EMBO J, 18(7): 1783-1792 (1999) DOI: 10.1093/emboj/18.7.1783
- 140. Jonassen, T., Marbois, B., Faull, K., Clarke, C., & Larsen, P. Development and fertility in Caenorhabditis elegans clk-1 mutants depend upon transport of dietary coenzyme Q8 to mitochondria. J Biol Chem, 277(47):45020-45027 (2002) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M204758200
- 141. Larsen, P., & Clarke, C. Extension of lifespan in Caenorhabditis elegans by a diet lacking coenzyme Q. Science, 295(5552): 120-123 (2002) DOI: 10.1126/science.1064653
- 142. Saiki, R., Lunceford, A., Bixler, T., Dang, P., Lee, W., Furukawa, S., Clarke, C. Altered bacterial metabolism, not coenzyme Q content, is responsible for the lifespan extension in Caenorhabditis elegans fed an Escherichia coli diet lacking coenzyme Q. Aging Cell, 7(3): 291-304 (2008) DOI: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2008.00378.x
- 143. Yang, Y., Gangoiti, J., Sedensky, M., & Morgan, P. The effect of different ubiquinones on lifespan in Caenorhabditis elegans. Mech Ageing Dev, 130(6): 370-376 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.mad.2009.03.003
- 144. Murakami, S., & Johnson, T. A genetic pathway conferring life extension and resistance to UV stress in Caenorhabditis elegans. Genetics, 143(3): 1207-1218 (1996)
- 145. Zubovych, I., Straud, S., & Roth, M.

- Mitochondrial dysfunction confers resistance to multiple drugs in Caenorhabditis elegans. Mol Biol Cell, 21(6): 956-969 (2010) DOI: 10.1091/mbc.E09-08-0673
- 146. Schuelke, M., Krude, H., Finckh, B., Mayatepek, E., Janssen, A., Schmelz, M., Smeitink, J. Septo-optic dysplasia associated with a new mitochondrial cytochrome b mutation. Ann Neurol, 51(3): 388-392 (2002) DOI: 10.1002/ana.10151
- 147. Wibrand, F., Ravn, K., Schwartz, M., Rosenberg, T., Horn, N., & Vissing, J. Multisystem disorder associated with a missense mutation in the mitochondrial cytochrome b gene. Ann Neurol, 50(4): 540-543 (2001) DOI: 10.1002/ana.1224
- 148. Haut, S., Brivet, M., Touati, G., Rustin, P., Lebon, S., Garcia-Cazorla, A., Slama, A. A deletion in the human QP-C gene causes a complex III deficiency resulting in hypoglycaemia and lactic acidosis. Hum Genet, 113(2): 118-122 (2003)
- 149. Fellman, V. The GRACILE syndrome, a neonatal lethal metabolic disorder with iron overload. Blood Cells Mol Dis, 29(3): 444-450 (2002) DOI: 10.1006/bcmd.2002.0582
- 150. Fernandez-Vizarra, E., Bugiani, M., Goffrini, P., Carrara, F., Farina, L., Procopio, E., Zeviani, M. Impaired complex III assembly associated with BCS1L gene mutations in isolated mitochondrial encephalopathy. Hum Mol Genet, 16(10): 1241-1252 (2007) DOI: 10.1093/hmg/ddm072
- 151. Hinson, J., Fantin, V., & al. Missense mutations in the BCS1L gene as a cause of the Björnstad syndrome. N Engl J Med, 356(8): 809-819 (2007) DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa055262
- 152. Feng, J., Bussière, F., & Hekimi, S. Mitochondrial electron transport is a key determinant of life span in Caenorhabditis elegans. Dev Cell, 1(5): 633-644 (2001)

- DOI: 10.1016/S1534-5807(01)00071-5
- 154. Kiechle, T., Dedeoglu, A., Kubilus, J., Kowall, N., Beal, M., Friedlander, R., Ferrante, R. Cytochrome c and caspase-9 expression in Huntington's disease. Neuromolecular Med, 1(3): 183-195 (2002)
 DOI: 10.1385/NMM:1:3:183
- 155. Hashimoto, M., Takeda, A., Hsu, L., Takenouchi, T., & Masliah, E. Role of cytochrome c as a stimulator of a-synuclein aggregation in Lewy body disease. J Biol Chem, 274: 28849-28852 (1999) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.274.41.28849
- 156. Vincelli, A., Pottinger, D., Zhong, F., Hanske, J., Rolland, S., Conradt, B., & Pletneva, E. Recombinant expression, biophysical characterization, and cardiolipin-induced changes of two Caenorhabditis elegans cytochrome c proteins. Biochemistry, 52(4): 653-666 (2013)

 DOI: 10.1021/bi3014938
- 157. Wang, X., Zhu, S., Pei, Z., Drozda, M., Stravrovskaya, I., Del Signore, S., Friedlander, R. Inhibitors of cytochrome c release with therapeutic potential for Huntington's disease. J Neuroscience, 28(38): 9473-9485 (2008) DOI: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1867-08.2008
- 158. Ludwig, B., Bender, E., Arnold, S., Hüttemann, M., Lee, I., & Kadenbach, B. Cytochrome C oxidase and the regulation of oxidative phosphorylation. Chembiochem, 2(6): 392-403 (2001) DOI: 10.1002/1439-7633(20010601)2: 6<392::AID-CBIC392>3.0.CO;2-N
- 159. Massa, V., Fernandez-Vizarra, E., Alshahwan, S., Bakhsh, E., Goffrini, P., Ferrero, I., Zeviani, M. Severe infantile encephalomyopathy caused by a mutation in COX6B1, a nucleus-encoded subunit of cytochrome c oxidase. Am J Hum Genet, 82(6): 1281-1289 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2008.05.002
- 160. Lee, S., Lee, R., Fraser, A., Kamath, R.,

- Ahringer, J., & Ruvkun, G. A systematic RNAi screen identifies a critical role for mitochondria in C. elegans longevity. Nat Genet, 33(1): 40-48 (2003) DOI: 10.1038/ng1056
- McKay, R., McKay, J., Avery, L., & Graff, J. C elegans: a model for exploring the genetics of fat storage. Dev Cell, 4(1): 131-142 (2003)
 DOI: 10.1016/S1534-5807(02)00411-2
- 162. De Meirleir, L., Seneca, S., Lissens, W., De Clercq, I., Eyskens, F., Gerlo, E., Van Coster, R. Respiratory chain complex V deficiency due to a mutation in the assembly gene ATP12. J Med Genet, 41(2): 120-124 (2004) DOI: 10.1136/jmg.2003.012047
- 163. Cízková, A., Stránecký, V., & al. TMEM70 mutations cause isolated ATP synthase deficiency and neonatal mitochondrial encephalocardiomyopathy. Nat Genet, 40(11): 1288-1290 (2008) DOI: 10.1038/ng.246
- 164. Basoaha, A., Matthewsa, P., & Morten, K. Rapid rates of newly synthesized mitochondrial protein degradation are significantly affected by the generation of mitochondrial free radicals. FEBS letters, 579(28): 6511–6517 (2005) DOI: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.10.029
- 165. Tsang, W., & Lemire, B. Mitochondrial ATP synthase controls larval development cell nonautonomously in Caenorhabditis elegans. Dev Dyn, 226(4): 719-726 (2003)

 DOI: 10.1002/dvdy.10272
- 166. Hu, J., & Barr, M. ATP-2 interacts with the PLAT domain of LOV-1 and is involved in Caenorhabditis elegans polycystin signaling. Mol Biol Cell, 16(2): 458-469 (2005) DOI: 10.1091/mbc.E04-09-0851
- 167. Suzuki, T., Nagao, A., & Suzuki, T. Human mitochondrial tRNAs: biogenesis, function, structural aspects, and diseases. Annu Rev Genet, 45: 299-329 (2011) DOI: 10.1146/annurev-genet-110410-132

531

- 168. Pierce, S., Gersak, K., Michaelson-Cohen, R., Walsh, T., Lee, M., Malach, D., Levy-Lahad, E. Mutations in LARS2, encoding mitochondrial leucyl-tRNA synthetase, lead to premature ovarian failure and hearing loss in Perrault syndrome. Am J Hum Genet, 92(4): 614-620 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.03.007
- 169. Tsang, W., & Lemire, B. Mitochondrial genome content is regulated during nematode development. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 291(1): 8-16 (2002) DOI: 10.1006/bbrc.2002.6394
- 170. Bratic, I., Hench, J., Henriksson, J., Antebi, A., Bürglin, T., & Trifunovic, A. Mitochondrial DNA level, but not active replicase, is essential for Caenorhabditis elegans development. Nucleic Acids Res, 37(6): 1817-1828 (2009) DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkp018
- 171. Wai, T., Teoli, D., & Shoubridge, E. The mitochondrial DNA genetic bottleneck results from replication of a subpopulation of genomes. Nat Genet, 40: 1484-1488 (2008) DOI: 10.1038/ng.258
- 172. Chan, S., & Copeland, W. DNA polymerase gamma and mitochondrial disease: understanding the consequence of POLG mutations. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1787(5): 312-319 (2009)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2008.10.007
- 173. Van Goethem, G., Dermaut, B., Löfgren, A., Martin, J., & Van Broeckhoven, C. Mutation of POLG is associated with progressive external ophthalmoplegia characterized by mtDNA deletions. Nat Genet, 28(3): 211-212 (2001) DOI: 10.1038/90034
- 174. Addo, M., Cossard, R., Pichard, D., Obiri-Danso, K., Rötig, A., & Delahodde, A. Caenorhabditis elegans, a pluricellular model organism to screen new genes involved in mitochondrial genome maintenance. Biochim Biophys Acta,

- 1802(9): 765-773 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2010.05.007
- 175. Leung, M., Rooney, J., Ryde, I., Bernal, A., Bess, A., Crocker, T., Meyer, J. Effects of early life exposure to ultraviolet C radiation on mitochondrial DNA content, transcription, ATP production, and oxygen consumption in developing Caenorhabditis elegans. BMC Pharmacol Toxicol, 14: 9 (2013) DOI: 10.1186/2050-6511-14-9
- 176. Karkucinska-Wieckowska, A., Lebiedzinska, M., Jurkiewicz, E., Pajdowska, M., Trubicka, J., Szymanska-Debinska, T., Pronicka, E. Increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and low catalase level in fibroblasts of a girl with MEGDEL association (Leigh syndrome, deafness, 3-methylglutaconic aciduria). Folia Neuropathol, 49(1): 56-63
- 177. Yang, W., Li, J., & Hekimi, S. A Measurable increase in oxidative damage due to reduction in superoxide detoxification fails to shorten the life span of long-lived mitochondrial mutants of Caenorhabditis elegans. Genetics, 177(4): 2063-2074 (2007)
 DOI: 10.1534/genetics.107.080788

(2011)

- 178. Van Raamsdonk, J., & Hekimi, S. Deletion of the Mitochondrial Superoxide Dismutase sod-2 Extends Lifespan in Caenorhabditis elegans. PLoS Genet, 5(2): e1000361 (2009)

 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000361
- 179. Kanazawa, T., Zappaterra, M., Hasegawa, A., Wright, A., Newman-Smith, E., Buttle, K., van der Bliek, A. The C. elegans Opa1 homologue EAT-3 is essential for resistance to free radicals. PLoS Genet, 4(2): e1000022 (2008) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000022
- Labrousse, A., Zappaterra, M., Rube, D.,
 & van der Bliek, A. C. elegans dynaminrelated protein DRP-1 controls severing of the mitochondrial outer membrane. Mol Cell, 4(5): 815-826 (1999)

- DOI: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80391-3
- 181. Lu, Y., Rolland, S., & Conradt, B. A molecular switch that governs mitochondrial fusion and fission mediated by the BCL2-like protein CED-9 of Caenorhabditis elegans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 108(41): E813-822 (2011) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1103218108
- 182. Rolland, S., Lu, Y., David, C., & Conradt, B. The BCL-2-like protein CED-9 of C. elegans promotes FZO-1/Mfn1,2- and EAT-3/Opa1-dependent mitochondrial fusion. J Cell Biol, 186(4): 525-540 (2009)
- 183. Bess, A., Crocker, T., Ryde, I., & Meyer, J. Mitochondrial dynamics and autophagy aid in removal of persistent mitochondrial DNA damage in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nucleic Acids Res, 40(16): 7916-7931 (2012)

DOI: 10.1093/nar/gks532

- 184. Vázquez-Manrique, R., González-Cabo, P., Ros, S., Aziz, H., Baylis, H., & Palau, F. Reduction of Caenorhabditis elegans frataxin increases sensitivity to oxidative stress, reduces lifespan, and causes lethality in a mitochondrial complex II mutant . FASEB J, 20(1): 172-174 (2006)
- 185. Ventura, N., Rea, S., Henderson, S., Condo, I., Johnson, T., & Testi, R. Reduced expression of frataxin extends the lifespan of Caenorhabditis elegans. Aging Cell, 4(2): 109-112 (2005) DOI: 10.1111/j.1474-9726.2005.00149.x
- 186. Schiavi, A., Torgovnick, A., Kell, A., Megalou, E., Castelein, N., Guccini, I., Ventura, N. Autophagy induction extends lifespan and reduces lipid content in response to frataxin silencing in C. elegans. Exp Gerontol, 48(2): 191-201 (2013)DOI: 10.1016/j.exger.2012.12.002
- 187. Zarse, K., Schulz, T., Birringer, M., & Ristow, M. Impaired respiration is positively correlated with decreased life span in Caenorhabditis elegans models of Friedreich Ataxia. FASEB J, 21(4): 1271-1275 (2007)

- DOI: 10.1096/fj.06-6994com
- 188. González-Cabo, P., Bolinches-Amorós, A., Cabello, J., Ros, S., Moreno, S., Baylis, H., Vázguez-Manrique, R. Disruption of the ATP-binding cassette B7 (ABTM-1/ ABCB7) induces oxidative stress and premature cell death in Caenorhabditis elegans. J Biol Chem, 286(24): 21304-21314 (2011)

DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M110.211201

- 189. Ren, Y., Yang, S., Tan, G., Ye, W., Liu, D., Qian, X., Lu, J. Reduction of Mitoferrin Results in Abnormal Development and Extended Lifespan in Caenorhabditis elegans. PLoS One, 7(1): e29666 (2012) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0029666
- 190. Mun, J., Lee, T., Kim, J., Yoo, B., Bahk, Y., Koo, H., & Han, S. Caenorhabditis elegans mitofilin homologs control the morphology of mitochondrial cristae and influence reproduction and physiology. J Cell Physiol, 224(3): 748-756 (2010) DOI: 10.1002/jcp.22177
- 191. Rolland, S., Motori, E., Memar, N., Hench, J., Frank, S., Winklhofer, K., & Conradt, B. Impaired complex IV activity in response to loss of LRPPRC function can be compensated by mitochondrial hyperfusion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 110(32): E2967-2976 (2013) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1303872110
- 192. Sugimoto, T., Mori, C., Takanami, T., Sasagawa, Y., Saito, R., Ichiishi, E., & Higashitani, A. Caenorhabditis elegans par2.1./mtssb-1 is essential mitochondrial DNA replication and its defect causes comprehensive transcriptional alterations including a hypoxia response. Exp Cell Res. 314(1): 103-114 (2008)

DOI: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2007.08.015

- 193. Lakowski, B., & Hekimi, S. Determination of life-span in Caenorhabditis elegans by four clock genes. Science, 272(5264): 1010-1013 (1996) DOI: 10.1126/science.272.5264.1010
- 194. Ahringer, J. Embryonic tissue

- differentiation in Caenorhabditis elegans requires dif-1, a gene homologous to mitochondrial solute carriers. EMBO J, 14(10): 2307-2316 (1995)
- 195. Farina, F., Alberti, A., Breuil, N., Bolotin-Fukuhara, M., Pinto, M., & Culetto, E. Differential expression pattern of the four mitochondrial adenine nucleotide transporter ant genes and their roles during the development of Caenorhabditis elegans. Dev Dyn, 237(6): 1668-168 (2008)

DOI: 10.1002/dvdy.21578

- 196. de Jong, L., Meng, Y., Dent, J., & Hekimi, S. Thiamine pyrophosphate biosynthesis and transport in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Genetics, 168(2): 845-854 (2004)

 DOI: 10.1534/genetics.104.028605
- 197. Iser, W., Kim, D., Bachman, E., & Wolkow, C. Examination of the requirement for ucp-4, a putative homolog of mammalian uncoupling proteins, for stress tolerance and longevity in C. elegans. Mech Ageing Dev, 126(10): 1090-1096 (2005) DOI: 10.1016/j.mad.2005.04.002
- 198. Vanfleteren, J., & De Vreese, A. Rate of aerobic metabolism and superoxide production rate potential in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. J Exp Zool, 274(2): 93-100 (1996)
 DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-010X(19960201) 274:2<93::AID-JEZ2>3.0.CO;2-8
- 199. Yanos, M., Bennett, C., & Kaeberlein, M. Genome-Wide RNAi Longevity Screens in Caenorhabditis elegans. Curr Genomics, 13(7): 508-518 (2012) DOI: 10.2174/138920212803251391
- 200. Van Raamsdonk, J., & Hekimi, S. FUdR causes a twofold increase in the lifespan of the mitochondrial mutant gas-1. Mech Ageing Dev, 132(10): 519-521 (2011) DOI: 10.1016/j.mad.2011.08.006
- 201. Mitchell, D., Stiles, J., Santelli, J., & Sanadi, D. Synchronous growth and aging of Caenorhabditis elegans in the presence of fluorodeoxyuridine. J

- Gerontol, 34(1): 28-36 (1979) DOI: 10.1093/geronj/34.1.28
- 202. Long, X., Spycher, C., Han, Z., Rose, A., Müller, F., & Avruch, J. TOR deficiency in C. elegans causes developmental arrest and intestinal atrophy by inhibition of mRNA translation. Curr Biol, 12(17): 1448-1461 (2002) DOI: 10.1016/S0960-9822(02)01091-6
- 203. Rubner, M. Das Problem det Lebensdaur und seiner beziehunger zum Wachstum und Ernarnhung. Munich: Oldenberg (1908)
- 204. Harman, D. Aging: a theory based on free radical and radiation chemistry. J Gerontol, 11(3): 298-300 (1956) DOI: 10.1093/geronj/11.3.298
- 205. Mazat, J., Letellier, T., Bédes, F., Malgat, M., Korzeniewski, B., Jouaville, L., & Morkuniene, R. Metabolic control analysis and threshold effect in oxidative phosphorylation: implications for mitochondrial pathologies. Mol Cell Biochem, 174(1-2): 143-148 (1997) DOI: 10.1023/A:1006875517267
- 206. Khan, M., Ligon, M., Hussey, L., Hufnal, B., Farber, R. 2., Munkácsy, E., Rea, S. TAF-4 is required for the life extension of isp-1, clk-1 and tpk-1 Mit mutants. Aging (Albany NY), in press (2013)
- 207. Zuryn, S., Kuang, J., Tuck, A., & Ebert, P. Mitochondrial dysfunction in Caenorhabditis elegans causes metabolic restructuring, but this is not linked to longevity. Mech Ageing Dev, 131(9): 554-561 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.mad.2010.07.004
- 208. Walter, L., Baruah, A., Chang, H., Pace, H., & Lee, S. The homeobox protein CEH-23 mediates prolonged longevity in response to impaired mitochondrial electron transport chain in C. elegans. PLoS Biol, 9(6): e1001084 (2011) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1001084
- 209. Hwang, A., Jeong, D., & Lee, S. Mitochondria and organismal longevity. Curr Genomics, 13(7): 519-532 (2012)

DOI: 10.2174/138920212803251427

210. Suthammarak, W., Morgan, P., & Sedensky, M. Mutations in mitochondrial complex III uniquely affect complex I in Caenorhabditis elegans. J Biol Chem, 285(52): 40724-40731 (2010) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M110.159608

Abbreviations: CoQ: coenzyme Q; DMQ_g: demethoxy-Q_g; LOF: loss-of-function; MRC: mitochondrial respiratory chain; mtDNA: mitochondrial DNA; NADH: reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide; NFR: NADH-ferricyanide reductase; RNAi: RNA interference; ROS: reactive oxygen species; SOD: superoxide dismutase

Key Words: Caenorhabditis elegans, Electron Transport, Genetics, Leigh Syndrome, Lifespan, Metabolic Disease, Mitochondrion, Reactive Oxygen Species, Respiratory Chain, Review

Send correspondence to: Beverley M. Dancy, Center for Developmental Therapeutics, Seattle Children's Research Institute, M/S C9S-921, 1900 Ninth Ave, Seattle, WA 98199, USA, Tel: 206-884-1099, Fax: 206-987-7660, E-mail: beverley.m.dancy@gmail.com